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The current Annual Financial Statement 2013 was drawn up by the 
Management Board and is still to be approved by the auditors. The 
auditing process has not yet been completed. The company expects 
the audit of the Financial Statements to be compiled in the near 
future. As soon as the auditors have come to a final assessment the 
company is going to publish this assessment as well as the Annual 
Report.
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BASIS OF THE GROUP
MIFA Mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG is Germany‘s 
largest manufacturer of bicycles in terms of sales. The 
company‘s headquarters is located in Sangerhausen, 
Saxony-Anhalt, Germany. MIFA Mitteldeutsche 
Fahrradwerke AG is the Group parent company of 
its wholly-owned subsidiaries the GRACE Group and 
Steppenwolf Bavaria GmbH. The GRACE Group owns 
Grace GmbH & Co. KG, Grace Verwaltungs GmbH, and 
e-fab mobility GmbH.

MIFA‘s core business areas comprise the development, 
manufacturing and distribution of classic bicycles and 
e-bikes. A broad product range spanning entry price 
through to the premium area is covered in this context. 
To supplement the product portfolio, in its “after sales“ 
business area MIFA operates a service network for 
warranty, repair and replacement parts services. MIFA 
utilises the sales channels of self-service wholesale and 
retail, OEM business, specialist dealers and direct sales 
to end-customers. Sales markets include Germany, 
France, Denmark, Austria, the Netherlands, Poland, 
Switzerland and Belgium.

ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL 
REPORT

Macroeconomic and sector-specific 
conditions
In Germany, the main sales market of MIFA, the 
economy performed better in the year under review 
than in the Eurozone, which remained in recession. 
Price-adjusted GDP registered moderate growth 
of 0.4 % year-on-year in 2013, somewhat weaker 
than in 2012 (0.7 %).1 An important growth-driver 
was consumption by private households, which 
was underpinned by rising employment and lower 
returns on investments. The seasonally adjusted 
unemployment rate in Germany was stable at 6.9 % in 
2013 (2012: 6.8 %). At 1.5 %, the year-on-year increase 
in consumer prices reached its lowest level since 2010 
(2012: 2.0 %). The effect on inflation of energy prices for 
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heating oil and fuel also weakened.2 In the Eurozone, 
negative growth of -0.4 % was recorded in the year 
under review (2012: -0.7 %).3 Leading indicators such as 
the ifo Business Climate Index and the GfK Consumer 
Climate Index also experienced an uptrend over the 
full course of 2013. 

A total of around 2.16 million bicycles and e-bikes were 
produced during the full course of 2013 in Germany 
(previous year: 2.21 million units), according to figures 
produced by the German Two-Wheeler Industry 
Association (ZIV) at the end of March 2014. Sales 
revenues in 2013 (EUR 2.0 billion) were 1.1 times the 
level of the year 2000 (EUR 1.8 billion), while volumes 
sold in 2013 (3.8 million units) fell to 0.7 times the level 
of the year 2000 (5.1 million units). The average price 
in Germany amounted to around EUR 520, which 
is attributable to the rising market share of e-bikes, 
among other factors. Sales of e-bikes in Germany and 
Europe have been distinguished by strong growth 
over the past years, according to current figures 
published by the ZIV. Whereas the number of e-bikes 
sold in Germany amounted to just 40,000 in 2006, this 
figure had risen more than tenfold by 2013 (410,000). 4

Results of operations, financial 
position and net assets

Results of operations (previous year‘s 
figures restated)
The MIFA Group generated EUR 110.7 million of 
revenue in the 2013 financial year. Compared with the 
previous year‘s restated revenue of EUR 107.8 million, 
this represents a fall in revenue of 2.7 % (the reasons 
for the restatement of the previous year‘s figures 
are set out in the report on events after the balance 
sheet date). At EUR 86.4 million (previous year: 
EUR 84.3 million), most of the revenue, equivalent 
to 78.0 % (previous year: 78.2 %), continued to be 
attributable to Germany. Given strong preproduction 
for the 2014 cycling season, changes in inventory 
amounted to EUR 6.0 million, significantly higher than 
in the previous year (EUR 2.0 million). Total operating 
revenue of EUR 117.0 million exceeded the previous 
year‘s EUR 110.0 million by 6.4 %.

1 German Federal Statistical Office: press release of 15 January 2014 Moderate growth of the German economy in 2013, Wiesbaden.
2 German Federal Statistical Office: press release of 16 January 2014 2013 consumer prices: +1.5 % compared with 2012, Wiesbaden.
3 Eurostat: Real GDP growth rate – volume, change compared with previous year ( %), forecast dated 4 January 2014, Luxembourg.
4  German Two-Wheeler Industry Association (ZIV): Figures, data and facts about the bicycle market in Germany published 

 at the ZIV business press conference on 25 March 2014, Berlin.
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In the year under review, the company incurred a 
negative operating result (EBIT, earnings before 
interest and taxes) of EUR 11.1 million (previous year: 
EUR -8.0 million). This loss is particularly attributable 
to year-on-year significantly higher cost of materials 
of EUR 86.6 million (previous year: EUR 81.6 million). 
As a result of the acquisitions of the GRACE and 
Steppenwolf brands in the 2012 financial year, MIFA 
focused increasingly on the segments of high-
quality classic bicycles and e-bikes in the year under 
review, which also include higher-value components. 
Significant reject rates also occurred as the result of 
not-yet-mature production technology and special 
wishes on the part of one customer. As the revenue 
expectations could also not be realised, the higher 
cost of materials was offset by only a slight increase 
in revenue. Expressed in terms of total operating 
revenue, the cost of materials ratio nevertheless 
improved slightly to 74.0 % (previous year: 74.2 %). 
The integration of GRACE and Steppenwolf also fed 
through to the creation of additional sales, marketing 
and development structures. In consequence, 
personnel expenses rose to EUR 17.4 million 
(previous year: EUR 15.9 million), and the year-average 
number of employees increased to 806 (previous year: 
768). Depreciation and amortisation amounted to 
EUR 4.4 million (previous year: EUR 3.4 million). This 
chiefly reflects higher amortisation charges applied to 
customer relationships.

Higher other operating expenses of EUR 20.2 million 
(previous year: EUR 17.5 million) also contributed to 
the further widening of the loss. This increase was 
particularly attributable to investments in connection 
with the integration of the GRACE and Steppenwolf 
brands. For example, two new production lines were 
commissioned, one of which is designed for the 
manufacturing of particularly high quality e-bikes. 
Development expenses of EUR 0.9 million and 
expenses of EUR 1.0 million for issuing a corporate 
bond in August 2013 were also incurred. 

The net interest result improved to EUR -2.0 million 
(previous year: EUR -2.2 million), whereby the structure 
of interest expenses also shifted due to the bond 
issue and the lower level of bank borrowings. Losses 
from the measurement at fair value through profit 
or loss of financial assets and liabilities amounted to 

EUR -0.5 million in the year under review (previous year: 
EUR -0.7 million), with the corresponding gains standing 
at EUR 0.4 million (previous year: EUR 0.1 million). 
Currency effects amounted to EUR -0.4 million, 
compared with gains of EUR 0.4 million in the prior 
period. This was mainly attributable to the change in 
the USD/EUR exchange rate in the year under review.

Overall, the Group incurred a consolidated net loss 
of EUR 13.2 million for the year under review (previous 
year: EUR -9.9 million). Diluted and basic earnings 
per share amounted to EUR -1.34 (previous year: 
EUR -0.74). In this context, it should be noted that 
the weighted average number of shares increased 
to 9,798,926 due to the capital increase in July 2012 
(previous year: 8,759,522 shares).

Net assets (previous year‘s figures restated)
MIFA‘s total assets amounted to EUR 81.7 million 
as of 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: 
EUR 80.1 million). On the assets side of the balance 
sheet, EUR 62.5 million (31 December 2012: 
EUR 59.0 million), or 76.5 % (31 December 2012: 73.4 %) 
of total assets were attributable to current assets. 

The value of the inventories stood at EUR 46.7 million 
as of the balance sheet date (31 December 2012: 
EUR 48.6 million), equivalent to 57.2 % of total assets 
(31 December 2012: 60.1 %). At the same time, the 
value of trade receivables of EUR 4.9 million was 
almost unchanged compared with the previous 
year. Tax receivables of EUR 5.1 million (previous 
year: EUR 2.8 million) especially comprise VAT credits, 
excess tax payments, and a claim due to a loss 
reported for previous years. MIFA‘s liquid assets 
were valued at EUR 4.4 million as of the balance sheet 
date, significantly higher than a year previously (31 
December 2012: EUR 2.3 million). 

Non-current assets stood at EUR 19.2 million 
as of the balance sheet date (31 December 2012: 
EUR 21.2 million). The fall is especially attributable to an 
impairment charge applied to customer relationships 
among intangible assets; intangible assets fell 
to EUR 3.4 million (previous year: EUR 5.4 million). 
Property, plant and equipment increased slightly to 
EUR 14.5 million (previous year: EUR 14.1 million). 
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On the equity and liabilities side of the balance 
sheet, the loss of EUR 29.6 million for the year 
included in retained earnings (31 December 2012: 
EUR -16.4 million) fed through to a marked reduction 
in equity to EUR 3.9 million as of the balance sheet 
date (31 December 2012: EUR 17.1 million). The equity 
ratio fell accordingly to 4.8 % (31 December 2012: 
21.3 %). The reasons for the loss included in retained 
earnings that was incurred for the year are set out 
in the report on events after the balance sheet date. 
Non-current liabilities grew to EUR 25.6 million 
due to the corporate bond that was issued in August 
2013 (31 December 2012: EUR 2.7 million). Current 
liabilities were reduced, by contrast: interest-bearing 
loans decreased to EUR 29.1 million (31 December 
2012: EUR 40.0 million), and trade payables stood at 
EUR 15.7 million (31 December 2012: EUR 18.2 billion). 
A marked increase to EUR 6.1 million (31 December 
2012: EUR 1.3 million) was reported among other 
liabilities, chiefly reflecting liabilities arising from 
advance payments received.

Financial position (previous year‘s figures 
restated)
Cash flow from operating activities improved to 
EUR -7.4 million in the year under review (previous 
year: EUR -15.5 million) – despite the higher level of 
consolidated net loss incurred. This improvement 
is due to a sharp change in working capital: while 
inventories increased by EUR 21.8 million in the 2012 
financial year, EUR 1.8 million was released from 
working capital in the year under review. Although 
trade payables and miscellaneous liabilities exerted 
a countervailing effect, this impact was insufficient 
to offset the improvement in the working capital 
position. 

MIFA‘s investment activities fell during the year under 
review: having invested EUR 1.0 million in the previous 
year, the company invested just EUR 0.1 million 
intangible assets in the year under review. An amount 
EUR 2.6 million was invested in purchasing property, 
plant and equipment, compared with EUR 3.4 million 
in the previous year. It should be noted in this context 
that the previous year‘s investment activities were 
characterised by the purchase of the GRACE and 
Steppenwolf brands. Overall, the cash outflow 
from investing activities stood at EUR 2.7 million 
(previous year: EUR 4.4 million).

Cash inflow from financing activities amounted 
to EUR 12.3 million in the reporting year (previous 
year: EUR 19.8 million). While the company accrued 
EUR 10.3 million from the capital increase in the 

previous year, it recorded a EUR 24.1 million net cash 
inflow from the corporate bond issue in the year under 
review. Besides this, cash inflows from the drawing 
down of loans (EUR 11.6 million; previous year: 
EUR 17.5 million), were offset by loan redemptions of 
EUR 23.5 million (previous year: EUR 8.0 million).

Overall, compared with the start of the year, liquid 
assets were up by EUR 2.1 million to EUR 4.4 million 
(31 December 2012: EUR 2.3 million).

REPORT ON EVENTS AFTER THE 
BALANCE SHEET DATE
When preparing its annual financial statements for 
the 2013 financial year, MIFA‘s Supervisory Board 
determined that the accounting valuation of its raw 
materials and supplies, as well as finished goods, had 
been overstated, and consequently required correction. 
An initial appraisal by MIFA that was conducted on the 
basis of a volume component found to be erroneous 
by the auditor suggested a prospective net loss on 
operating activities of approximately EUR 15 million 
for the 2013 financial year, which was communicated 
as part of an ad hoc announcement published on 20 
March 2014. As the previous sole Managing Board 
member of MIFA, Peter Wicht, was unable to work 
due to illness, the Supervisory Board appointed 
certified public auditor Hans-Peter Barth to be 
Managing Board member responsible for Finance and 
Administration with effect as of 20 March 2014. Along 
with assuming the previous area of responsibilities of 
Peter Wicht, his primary task was then to investigate 
how the prospective net loss for the year had arisen, 
and to secure MIFA‘s further financing. An equity 
investment by Indian bike manufacturer Hero Cycles 
Ltd. (“HERO“) ranked, and continues to rank, as one of 
the potential financing options for MIFA. Negotiations 
with HERO about a strategic partnership – including 
in development work and purchasing – had already 
started in July 2013. MIFA and HERO also signed a 
letter of intent on 20 March concerning a cooperation 
venture whereby HERO would acquire a EUR 15 million 
equity investment in MIFA subject to conclusive due 
diligence and the negotiation of further contracts. 

Given the strained financing position, MIFA‘s Managing 
Board mandated consultancy firm Ernst & Young 
GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft to prepare a 
reorganisation survey in line with the requirements for 
the preparation of reorganisation concepts (Standard 
6 of the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany – IDW 
S6). In order to close potential liquidity gaps, MIFA 
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entered into agreements with important contractual 
partners relating to the further financing of the 
operating business. This included signing a sale and 
lease back agreement on 16 April 2014 with the local 
authority of Mansfeld-Südharz relating to a plot of 
operating land, which generated EUR 5.7 million 
of proceeds for MIFA. Economic ownership of the 
land nevertheless remained with MIFA after the 
transaction. MIFA continues to use the land in its 
entirety, leasing it back on standard market terms as 
part of the agreement. Further negotiated included 
raising a shareholder loan of EUR 2.5 million, deferrals 
of liabilities to suppliers, and early payments by some 
customers against discount. A standstill agreement 
was negotiated with the financing banks and 
merchandise insurers that should provide MIFA with 
the requisite scope to develop essential restructuring 
measures and implement them.

On 16 April 2014, previous Managing Board member 
Peter Wicht stepped down from his post for health 
reasons. On the same day, the Supervisory Board 
appointed Dr. Stefan Weniger as the new Managing 
Board member with responsibility for reorganisation 
and restructuring. Dr. Weniger, a lawyer and business 
administrator who is the managing director of a 
consultancy firm that specialises in reorganisation 
advice, has since been responsible for developing an 
overall restructuring concept.

During the further course of preparing the 2013 annual 
financial statements, it was found that, along with the 
aforementioned volume component, the valuations 
of raw materials and supplies, as well as finished 
products, had been overstated for several financial 
years due to a valuation component. Moreover, the 
valuation of trade receivables had been overstated 
in the 2012 financial year due to an erroneous sales 
revenue deferral. The corresponding corrections 
resulted in a restatement of the profit and loss items 
of sales revenue, changes in inventory, customer 
materials, as well as the corresponding balance sheet 
items, and generally fed through to extraordinary 
expenses of EUR 22.7 million in the financial year 
elapsed (a detailed presentation of the effects on the 
balance sheet and income statement items for the 
individual financial years can be found in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements). This resulted in 
a EUR 35.0 million net loss for the 2013 financial year, 
and a cumulative loss of EUR 4.7 million for the year 
included in retained earnings as of 31 December 2013. 
The reasons for the previous years‘ erroneous financial 
statements have not yet been clarified conclusively. 
The suspicion exists, however, that these erroneous 

valuations were caused by manual interventions 
within the financial bookkeeping system.

Also after the erroneous accounting was made 
public, Indian bicycle manufacturer HERO decided 
to maintain its planned strategic partnership, as well 
as its intended equity investment in MIFA. Based 
on conclusive due diligence, HERO arrived at the 
assessment that it was possible to reorganise and 
restructure MIFA‘s business. On 19 May 2014, MIFA 
and OPM Global B.V., a HERO subsidiary, signed an 
investment agreement for an equity investment of 
EUR 15 million. In this agreement, OPM Global B.V. 
generally committed itself to underwrite cash capital 
increases of EUR 15 million from MIFA‘s existing 
authorised capital. This investment commitment 
is subject to various suspensive conditions. These 
particularly include a creditors‘ reclaim waiver relating 
to the MIFA corporate bond that was issued in August 
2013 in an amount of between EUR 15 million and 
EUR 20 million, and an exemption by the German 
Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) from 
the obligation to issue a public takeover offer pursuant 
to the German Securities Trading and Acquisition Act 
(WpÜG). 

On 23 May 2014, MIFA, in a first step, requested its 
bondholders to vote on three points by way of voting 
without convening a meeting: the appointment of a 
joint representative for the bondholders, the deferral 
of interest claims arising from the bond that were 
due for the first time on 12 August 2014, and the 
temporary suspension of bondholders‘ call rights, in 
each case until 31 October 2014. The 50 % quorum of 
outstanding bonds required for passing a resolution 
was not reached in this context, as a consequence 
of which the proposed resolutions could not be 
approved as part of the voting without convening a 
meeting. As part of the second creditors‘ meeting that 
was held on 23 July 2014, the requisite attendance was 
satisfied, and the planned resolutions were approved. 
The Joint Representative of all bondholders that was 
elected on 23 July 2014, One Square Advisory Services 
GmbH, had deferred the interest claims that were 
due on 12 August 2014 until initially 25 August 2014, 
and wished to assert no rights arising from the bond 
during this period. 

On 22 August 2014, the company entered into an 
agreement relating to the restructuring of the bond 
and the company‘s equity with the new investor 
Hero Ltd. and the bondholders‘ joint representative. 
Accordingly, the holders of the MIFA bond are being 
called upon by way of voting without convening 
a meeting to vote concerning a reduction of 



6   Group Management report | Consolidated financial statements

EUR 15 million of the principal claim of the MIFA bond 
from a current nominal amount of EUR 25 million to 
subsequently EUR 10 million, among other matters. 
The difference of EUR 15 million is to be converted 
into new shares as part of a non-cash capital increase 
(debt for equity swap). In addition, the MIFA bond is to 
be provided with additional collateral in the form of 
certain assets in a value of up to EUR 7.5 million.

The bondholders are also to be called upon to 
decide concerning a waiver of the approximately 
EUR 1.9 million of interest claims that have arisen 
between 12 August 2013 (inclusive) and 11 August 
2014 (inclusive). As with the aforementioned 
differential amount, the accrued interest is to be 
added to MIFA‘s equity. In addition, a proposal is being 
put to the bondholders to postpone the final maturity 
date of the MIFA bond until 12 August 2021 (instead 
of 12 August 2018), accompanied by a reduction in 
the annual interest rate from currently 7.5 percent to a 
restructuring interest rate of 1 percent per annum for 
the period between 12 August 2014 (inclusive) and 11 
August 2021 (inclusive).

As consideration for the reduction in the principal 
claim of the MIFA bond, and following a simplified 
reduction in share capital in a 1:100 ratio (“capital 
write-down“) that is to be approved by an EGM, the 
bondholders are to receive the right to acquire New 
Shares which are to be issued under exclusion of old 
shareholders‘ subscription rights as part of a debt for 
equity swap to be approved by the EGM, and which 
are to be initially subscribed for and underwritten by a 
processing agent.

In a further step, current planning initially envisages 
a capital increase against cash capital contributions 
in relation to the investment of OPM Global B.V. As 
part of a further capital increase against cash capital 
contributions, it is also planned to offer New Shares to 
the existing shareholders and the bondholders. In this 
context, OPM Global B.V. has undertaken to subscribe 
for shares that are not taken by the old shareholders 
and the bondholders. Total issue proceeds of at least 
EUR 15 million are to accrue to MIFA as part of the 
capital increases. If the planned capital measures are 
implemented successfully as set out above, OPM 
Global B.V. and other new shareholders would hold 
around 89 percent of the total number of outstanding 
shares of MIFA, around 10 percent would then be held 
notionally by the bondholders, and around 1 percent 
would be held by current shareholders of MIFA.

The agreement concluded between MIFA, the 
bondholders‘ Joint Representative, and OPM Global 
B.V. is subject to various suspensive conditions. The 
implementation of the agreed reorganisation structure 
is to be concluded by March 2015. The company will 
soon convene the meetings that are required for the 
related implementation – especially the meeting of 
the bondholders and the corresponding the requisite 
Shareholders‘ General Meeting. These meetings will 
occur prospectively in November, thereby concluding 
the company‘s financial reorganisation as far as 
possible. 

REPORT ON OPPORTUNITIES 
AND RISKS

Management of opportunities and 
risks at MIFA
Given the events stated in the report on events 
after the balance sheet date that is contained in this 
management report, the company-wide opportunities 
and risk management system that MIFA has deployed 
in the past has proved insufficient, especially in 
order to adequately manage the company‘s various 
specific risks. Accordingly, one of the central tasks of 
the new Managing Board of MIFA will be to set up 
functioning company-wide opportunities and risk 
management system that allows all significant risks 
to be systematically identified, measured, managed 
and monitored. The internal controlling and risk 
management system for the financial accounting 
process is also to be optimised in the future. 
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MIFA‘s opportunities and risk landscape is as follows:

Specific risks at MIFA

Environment 
and sector risks

 » Economic risks

 » Competition risks

 » Market trend risks

 » Location risks

 » Seasonal risks

 » Weather risk

Corporate  
strategy risks

 » Dependency risk – customers

 » Dependency risks – suppliers

 » Restructuring risk

Operational 
risks

 » Quality risks

 » Environmental risks

 » Logistical risks

 » Personnel risks

 » IT risks

Financial risks  »  Currency exchange rate and 
commodity price risks

 » Interest rate risks

 » Hedging risk

 » Interim financing risk

 » Credit risks

 »  Risks arising from the  
corporate bond

Specific opportunities at MIFA
Environment and sector  
opportunities

 » Opportunities arising from economic recovery in Europe

 » High-growth market for e-bikes

Corporate strategy  
opportunities

 » Synergy potentials in purchasing, production and sales

 » Change in customer structure

 » Growth through brands

Operational opportunities  » Higher capacity utilisation outside peak months

 » Creation of own development department

 » Expansion of service business
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Going concern risks

Given the events after the balance sheet date of the 
2013 financial year that are stated in the report on 
events after the balance sheet date, there currently 
exist, in particular, financial risks and future earnings 
risks that jeopardise MIFA as a going concern.

An important basis for the continuation of the company 
is the agreement concluded with the investor HERO 
Ltd. and the bondholders‘ joint representative, which 
includes a waiver by bondholders of EUR 15 million 
against the issuing of shares, and a capital increase of a 
further EUR 15 million by HERO. 

The bondholders‘ waiver is to be approved at a 
bondholders‘ meeting that is to be convened 
presumably in September. At this meeting, the 
bondholders are also to waive call rights due to non-
compliance with covenants. If the requisite quorum is 
not achieved at the first bondholders‘ meeting, which 
is a meeting without actual attendance, a further 
bondholders‘ meeting will soon be convened that is 
to be held as an attended meeting. The quorum there 
amounts to 25 %.

The capital increase as a result of the bond waiver, as 
well as the increase against cash capital contributions of 
EUR 15 million, are to be approved at an EGM that is to 
be held shortly after the second bondholders‘ meeting. 
The capital measures must be approved with a 75 % 
majority of the capital present there. If the requisite 
majorities are not achieved at the bondholders‘ 
meeting or the EGM, it is unlikely that the company can 
continue as a going concern.

In addition, the agreement with HERO and the 
bondholders‘ joint representative are subject to the 
following suspensive conditions:

 »  The financial statements as of 30 June 2014 do not 
report a loss of more than EUR 7 million before tax

 »  If the EGM occurs after 31 December 2014, the 
loss for the 2014 financial year must not exceed 
EUR 10 million

 »  The banks have agreed to extend the loans at a 
reorganisation interest-rate at today‘s level until the 
end of 2017

 »  No actions to rescind are pending against the 
bondholders‘ meeting and the EGM, or any such 
actions to rescind have been set aside (e.g. as the 
result of clearance decisions)

 »  The German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority 
(BaFin) has approved the listing prospectus for the 
issuing of new shares

 »  MIFA is removed from the Prime Standard of 
Deutsche Börse AG and is traded in the Regulated 
Unofficial Market (Freiverkehr)

 »  The company does not repay the EUR 2.5 million 
shareholder loan of Mr. Peter Wicht, but instead 
brings loss compensation claims against Mr. Wicht, 
retaining the loan as collateral

 »  No significant disruptions to business occur until the 
EGM 

 »  If the shares are still traded on the regular market 
until the transaction, the German Federal Financial 
Supervisory Authority (BaFin) is to issue an exemption 
permission whereby HERO is not required to make a 
public offer for the other shares of MIFA

 »  The bondholders‘ debt waiver of EUR 15 million must 
not result in a tax charge of more than EUR 1 million

 »  The company is established properly, and not 
insolvent

 »  There are no lawsuits pending with disputed 
amounts above EUR 3 million that have been 
brought by shareholders, bondholders, authorities, 
suppliers, customers, banks or other plaintiffs

The investor HERO can refrain from satisfying specific 
conditions.

The Managing Board is of the opinion that all 
conditions can be satisfied, or that the investor waives 
such conditions. If conditions are not satisfied, the risk 
exists that the capital increase do not occur, and that 
the company is jeopardised as a going concern.
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Liquidity risk
According to today‘s planning, the company‘s liquidity 
is secured until the start of December. Purchases of 
materials for the 2015 season must then be realised 
and financed. These orders should be financed by 
the EUR 15 million capital increase that is to occur 
prospectively after the EGM in November. If the 
receipt of these funds is delayed as a result of lawsuits 
against the resolutions of the creditors‘ meeting or the 
Shareholders‘ General Meeting, a clause exists in the 
agreement that the investor provides assistance until 
the agreement is satisfied.

A further liquidity risk exists in the cancellation 
conditions that are contained in the bond and lending 
agreements with Commerzbank (EUR 10 million 
lending facility). According to these conditions, the 
bondholders and Commerzbank have the right to call 
the bond and cancel the lending facility once the 2013 
annual financial statements have been published. 
The bondholders‘ joint representative has declared 
the deferral of the bond terms until 31 March 2015, 
in line with its authorisation by the creditors‘ meeting 
on 23 July 2014. Commerzbank has not yet waived 
the exercise of its cancellation rights. Commerzbank 
has nevertheless declared a standstill for loans of 
EUR 2 million that were due as of 30 April 2014. This 
standstill is currently valid until 30 September 2014. An 
overall financing solution is to be agreed for MIFA until 
by then. The Managing Board does not assume that 
Commerzbank will cancel the loans due to the breach 
of covenants.

Balance sheet overindebtedness
The balance sheet equity of MIFA amounted to 
EUR 5.1 million (German Commercial Code – HGB) as 
of 31 December 2013. It is possible that losses arise 
over the course of the 2014 financial year, especially 
due to the company‘s restructuring, that exceed the 
balance sheet equity. As far as possible, a waiver by the 
bondholders of EUR 15 million is to occur as a result 
of the creditors‘ meeting (prospectively in November 
2014). This amount would increase equity directly. The 
capital increase that is aimed for after the Shareholders‘ 
General Meeting would add a further EUR 15 million 
to the company‘s equity. Overall, the Managing Board 
of MIFA anticipate the addition of EUR 30 million 
to MIFA‘s equity by the end of 2014. Besides this, a 
shareholder loan of EUR 2.5 million has existed since 
April 2014. The Managing Board regards this loan as 
substitute equity financing as well as collateral for 
the company for claims against the former Managing 
Board member of MIFA.

Future earnings risks
The company generated a loss of EUR 13.2 million on 
its ordinary operating activities in 2013. MIFA must be 
reorganised and restructured sustainably in order to 
achieve positive results in the future. To this end, MIFA 
mandated auditing company Ernst & Young to prepare 
a reorganisation survey in accordance with Standard 6 
of the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (IDW S6). 
This survey is available in draft form, and certifies that 
the company can be reorganised if further financing is 
secured for the long term. The survey describes ten sets 
of measures that, if implemented, can notionally allow 
a positive EBITDA of EUR 7 million and EUR 8 million 
per year to be generated in future years from 2016. 
The Managing Board has started to implement these 
measures, and is endeavouring to realise them as far 
as possible by the end of 2014. 

The Ernst & Young survey does not take into account 
any synergy effects arising from the prospective new 
majority shareholder HERO. The Managing Board 
anticipates these to arise particularly in the areas of 
purchasing and supply management, as well as in 
terms of importing bicycles from India. Three HERO 
staff are already working at MIFA to identify and 
implement synergy potentials.

The restructuring of the bond and the reduction in 
the interest rate would provide relief to the profit and 
loss of MIFA in the future. A further significant ancillary 
condition to the agreement dated 22 August 2014 
with the bondholders and HERO is the agreement 
of the banks to extend the existing lending facilities 
of EUR 30 million until the end of 2017 at a low, 
reorganisation interest rate. As far as this aspect is 
concerned, the banks have signalled that they are 
inclined to grant such agreement.

Potential liability risks
As a matter of course, the company is exposed to 
a potential liability risk due to the previous years‘ 
erroneous annual financial statements. Here, the risk 
exists – inter alia – that shareholders or bondholders 
endeavour to assert claims against the company in 
legal courts. It has not been possible to quantify this 
risk to date. No such claims have been brought against 
the company to date. In general, the Managing Board 
is assuming that all potential claims of this type can 
be dismissed.
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OUTLOOK
The 2014 financial year will initially be a year 
of restructuring for MIFA. Based on an overall 
reorganisation concept, past errors are to be corrected, 
and measures relating to the future structure of 
MIFA‘s operating business are to be implemented. For 
this reason, MIFA anticipates a fall in revenue and a 
negative result for the 2014 financial year. Following 
a successful reorganisation in the 2014 financial year, 
2015 is to be a year of consolidation during which, 
from today‘s perspective, MIFA expects a further slight 
fall in revenue accompanied by a slightly positive 
result. The reorganisation measures should take full 
effect in 2016, allowing MIFA to achieve an EBITDA 
margin of between 5% and 7% of sales revenue that 
is usual for the sector.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 289A OF THE GERMAN 
COMMERCIAL CODE (HGB)
The corporate governance statement is published 
on MIFA‘s website within the Investor Relations area 
(www.mifa.de).

COMPENSATION REPORT

Managing Board compensation
The Managing Board has agreed the following com-
pensation components for its activities: Fixed basic sa-
lary, reinsured pension commitment, company car and 
reimbursement of all outlays and expenses, especially 
reimbursement of travel costs for journeys between 
home and work. Variable compensation components 
have not been agreed. The company has entered into 
directors & officers insurance for Mr Peter Wicht. The 
provisions for Mr Peter Wicht‘s pension claims amoun-
ted to EUR 328 thousand as of 31 December 2013. His 
compensation for the 2013 financial year amounted 
to EUR 301 thousand.

Supervisory Board compensation
Pursuant to Section 12 of the company‘s articles of in-
corporation, Supervisory Board members receive ap-
propriate compensation as determined by the AGM 
for each full financial year for which they have been 
Supervisory Board members. This compensation is 
payable one month after the end of the respective fi-
nancial year. The Supervisory Board Chairperson recei-
ves double this amount, and the Deputy Supervisory 
Board Chairperson receives one and a half times this 
amount. Supervisory Board members who have not 
belonged to the Supervisory Board for a full financial 
year receive compensation in line with the duration 
of their Supervisory Board membership. The members 
are also compensated for all outlays and VAT due on 
their compensation and outlays. The company can 
also take out general liability insurance for the Super-
visory Board members to cover legal liability arising 
from their Supervisory Board activities.

The Supervisory Board received fixed compensation 
of EUR 18 thousand for its activities in the year under 
review (2012: EUR 18 thousand). No variable compen-
sation components were granted.

MIFA Mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG operates no 
stock option programs or similar incentive schemes. 
In addition, no plans currently exist to introduce such 
schemes.

Shareholdings and notifiable  
transactions
The following members of the Managing and Super-
vising boards directly or indirectly held the following 
shares in the company as of 31 December 2013:

 »  Mr. Peter Wicht, Managing Board member  
(until 16 April 2014), 24.0% 

 »  Mr. Uwe Lichtenhahn, Supervisory Board Chairman, 
1,075 shares in MIFA AG; the remaining Supervisory 
Board members hold no shares in the company.

Pursuant to Section 15a of the German Securities Tra-
ding Act (WpHG), directors (and natural individuals or 
legal entities with which they are closely connected) 
of a company listed on the Regulated Market must 
notify the respective issuer and the German Federal Fi-
nancial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) if they purchase 
or sell shares or related financial instruments in an 
amount of more than EUR 5,000 during the course of 
a calendar year.
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Disclosures pursuant to Section 289 
(4) and Section 315 (4) of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB)
Pursuant to Section 289 (4) and Section 315 (4) of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB), the following 
disclosures are required for the MIFA Group (MIFA 
Mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG and its subsidiaries):

1.  Composition of subscribed capital: The share 
capital of MIFA Mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke 
AG amounts to EUR 9,798,926, and is split into 
9,798,926 ordinary bearer shares. No differing 
share classes have been issued.

2.  Restrictions relating to voting rights or 
the transfer of shares: Each share in MIFA 
Mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG grants one 
vote. No restrictions exist relating to voting rights 
or the transfer of shares. The Managing Board 
of MIFA Mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG is not 
aware of any agreements or restrictions relating 
to the exercise of voting rights or the transfer of 
shares.

3.  Direct or indirect interests in the company‘s 
capital exceeding 10 % of the voting rights: 
Pursuant to the German Securities Trading Act 
(AktG), all investors must notify the company 
and the German Federal Financial Supervisory 
Authority (BaFin) of the reaching, exceeding or 
falling below a certain interest in the company‘s 
voting rights as a result of purchase, sale or 
another manner. Notification is mandatory from 
a 3 % threshold in the voting rights.

  Due to the receipt of notifications concerning 
significant voting rights interests and proprietary 
transactions conducted by individuals with 
managerial responsibilities, the Managing Board 
is aware of the existence of the following direct 
or indirect interests of the company‘s capital that 
exceed 10 % of the voting rights:

Number of 
voting rights

Interest in the 
voting rights 

of the share 
capital of 

EUR 9,798,926

Peter Wicht 
and family 2,355,000 24.0 %

Carsten 
Maschmeyer 
and family 1,974,477 20.2 %

4.  Shares with special rights endowing powers 
of control: Shares with special rights that endow 
powers of control do not exist at the company.

5.  Type of voting right control if employees 
participate in the capital and do not directly 
exercise their controlling rights: As far as the 
Managing Board is aware, no direct employee 
participation exists in the company‘s capital 
where employees do not directly exercise their 
controlling rights.

6.  Statutory regulations and provisions of the 
articles of incorporation concerning the 
appointment and withdrawal from office of 
Managing Board members and concerning 
amendments to the articles of incorporation: 
The appointment and withdrawal from office of 
Managing Board members is based on Section 
84 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 
Members of the Managing and Supervising 
board are appointed for a maximum of five years 
accordingly. Pursuant to Section 6 of the articles 
of incorporation, the Managing Board consists 
of at least one individual, and can also consist of 
one individual given share capital of more than 
EUR 3,000,000. The Supervisory Board determines 
the number of members. The Supervisory Board 
can appoint one Managing Board member to 
be its chairperson or spokesperson, and appoint 
further members to be its deputy chairperson 
or deputy spokesperson. The Supervisory Board 
can dismiss a Managing Board member or the 
Managing Board Chairperson for a justifiable 
reason.

  Pursuant to Sections 119 (1) No. 5, 133, 179 of 
the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) in 
combination with Section 18 of the articles of 
incorporation, the AGM, with a simple majority 
of votes submitted and of the share capital 
represented, can approve amendments to the 
articles of incorporation to the extent that either 
the law or the articles of incorporation do not 
make other stipulations.
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7.  Managing Board powers to issue or 
repurchase shares:

 a. Approved capital

  The Managing Board can issue new shares 
only on the basis of resolutions passed by the 
AGM concerning an increase of share capital or 
concerning approved and conditional capital. 

   Pursuant to Section 5 (4) of the current articles of 
incorporation, the Managing Board is authorised, 
with Supervisory Board assent, to increase the 
company‘s share capital in the period until 27 
May 2018, once or in partial amounts, up to 
EUR 4,899,463 through issuing up to 4,899,463 
new ordinary bearer shares against cash and/or 
non-cash capital contributions (approved capital). 
Shareholders are to be granted subscription rights 
in this context. With Supervisory Board assent, 
the Managing Board can decide concerning the 
further content of share rights and the terms of 
the share issue.

  Shareholders‘ subscription rights can be 
excluded:

 » to settle fractional amounts

 »  if the capital increase is realised against cash 
capital contributions, does not exceed 10 % of 
the share capital, and the issue amount of the 
new shares is not significantly less than the stock 
market price;

 »  if the capital increase is realised against non-
cash capital contributions to grant shares as part 
of business combinations, or for the purpose 
of acquiring companies, parts of companies, 
interests in companies, or other assets.

 b.  Conditional capital

  MIFA Mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG has no 
conditional capital.

 c. Purchase and sale of treasury shares

  The purchase of treasury shares is regulated 
in Sections 71 et seq. of the German Securities 
Trading Act (AktG), and is permissible in certain 
instances by act of law or on the basis of an AGM 
authorisation. 

  On the basis of a resolution by the Shareholders‘ 
General Meeting of 28 May 2013, the Managing 
Board is authorised until the end of 27 May 2018 
to purchase the company‘s own shares with a 
notional interest in the share capital of a total of 
up to 10 % of the share capital existing on the 
date of the Shareholders‘ General Meeting. This 
authorisation can be exercise either wholly or in 
partial amounts, and either once or on several 
occasions. The purchase of the company‘s 
own shares shall be performed at the choice of 
the Managing Board either through the stock 
market or as part of a public purchase offer to all 
shareholders. 

  On the basis of the same resolution by the 
Shareholders‘ General Meeting, the Managing 
Board is authorised to sell the acquired treasury 
shares either through the stock market or 
through an offer to all shareholders, as well as to 
utilise the acquired treasury shares for all legally 
permissible purposes.
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STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 315 (1) CLAUSE 5 OF THE 
GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE (HGB) 
The Managing Board shows that, according to the best of his knowledge, this management report conveys a 
true and fair view of the course of business including the business results and the position of MIFA, and that the 
significant opportunities and risks are described.

Sangerhausen, 23 August 2014

Hans-Peter Barth   Dr. Stefan Weniger 
CEO    Management Board member
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EUR thousand Notes 1.1.-31.12.2012 
restated*

1.1.-31.12.2013

Revenues 1) 107,799 110,704

Change in inventory 2) 1,952 6,010

Other own work capitalised 219 332

Total operating revenue 109,970 117,046

Other operating income 3) 494 417

Cost of materials 4) 81,587 86,627

Personnel expenses 5) 15,885 17,381

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 6) 3,447 4,380

Other operating expenses 7) 17,518 20,175

Operating profit -7,973 -11,100

Net interest result 9) -2,162 -1,985

Currency gains / (losses) 8) 449 -392

Losses on financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit or loss

10) -745 -482

Gains on financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit or loss

10) 103 351

Earnings before tax (EBT) -10,328 -13,608

Taxes on income 12) -418 -452

Net profit/loss -9,910 -13,156

Weighted average number of shares 8,759,522 9,798,926

Earnings per share (basic) in EUR 13) -0.74 -1.34

Earnings per share (diluted) in EUR -0.74 -1.34

* See note I.2

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2013
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EUR thousand Notes 1.1.2012 
restated*

31.12.2012 
restated*

31.12.2013

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 20) 12,425 14,120 14,462

Intangible assets 21) 2,011 5,389 3,366

Other assets 22) 0 513 0

Deferred tax assets 23) 482 1,145 1,343

14,918 21,167 19,171

Current assets

Inventories 16) 26,723 48,552 46,715

Trade receivables 15) 4,968 4,897 4,879

Other assets 19) 67 433 1,415

Tax receivables 17) 1,322  2,826  5,100

Other financial assets 18) 630  0  0

Cash and cash equivalents 14) 2,349 2,251 4,383

36,059 58,959 62,492

Total assets 50,977 80,126 81,663

* See note I.2

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
as of 31 December 2013
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EUR thousand Anhang 1.1.2012 
restated*

31.12.2012 31.12.2013

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 32)

Subscribed capital 8,000 9,799 9,799

Capital reserves 13,564 23,734 23,734

Revenue reserves 3 3 3

Loss for the period included in retained earnings -6,491 -16,463 -29,621

Total equity 15,076 17,073 3,915

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing bond and loans (non-current) 29) 2,775 1,750 24,944

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 30) 75 179 203

Deferred tax liabilities 31) 0 739 476

2,850 2,668 25,623

Current liabilities 

Trade payables 25) 1,374 18,228 15,680

Interest-bearing borrowings (current) 24) 29,727 39,995 29,111

Other financial liabilities 20) 520 532 663

Other liabilities 27) 882 1,340 6,087

Income tax liabilities 28) 347 72 114

Provisions 26) 201 218 470

33,051 60,385 52,125

Total liabilities 35,901 63,053 77,748

Total assets 50,977 80,126 81,663

* See note I.2
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2013

EUR thousand Notes 2012 
restated*

2013

Net profit/loss -9,910 -13,156

Net interest result 9) 2,162 1,985

Taxes on income  -418 -452

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)  -8,166 -11,623

Non-cash-effective adjustment to reconcile  
earnings before interest and tax to net cash flows

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 6) 3,447 4,380

Change in the fair value through profit or  
loss of financial instruments 14) 642 131

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 18 -11

Changes to provisions and pension provisions 20), 24) 94 276

Changes to net current assets   

Decrease (increase) in inventories 13) -21,746 1,837

Increase in trade receivables, other receivables  
and miscellaneous assets 12) 1,023 -2,923

Increase (decrease) in trade payables and  
miscellaneous liabilities 19), 22)  12,231  1,849

-12,457 -6,084

Interest paid -2,399 -1,347

Income taxes paid -620 0

Cash flow from operating activities -15,476 -7,431

Purchase of intangible assets -998 -146

Outgoing payments for the acquisition of  
subsidiaries (less cash acquired) -42 0

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 39 18

Purchase of property, plant and equipment -3,384 -2,562

Cash flow from investing activities -4,385 -2,690

Cash inflow from additions to equity 10,290 0

Proceeds from bond (net) 0 24,137

Cash inflows from raising down loans 17,473 11,596

Repayment of loans -8,000 -23,480

Cash flow from financing activities 19,763 12,253

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents -98 2,132

Cash and cash equivalents as of 1 January 2,349 2,251

Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2,251 4,383

* See note I.2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
(with restated prior-year figures) 

EUR thousand
Note 

number
Number 
of shares

Subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserve

Revenue 
reserves

Net  
retained 

loss
Total 

Equity

Balance on  
31 Dec. 2011/ 
1 Jan. 2012 
restated* 24) 8,000,000 8,000 13,564 3 -6,491 15,076

Capital increase 
13 July 2012  1,600,000  1,600  8,778 10,378

Non-cash capital  
increase of  
18 December 2012  198,926  199  1,392 1,591

Actuarial losses -62 -62

Net result for 
the period -9,910 -9,910

Balance on  
31 Dec. 2012/ 
1 Jan. 2013 
restated* 24) 9,798,926 9,799 23,734 3 -16,463 17,073

Actuarial losses -2 -2

Net result for 
the period -13,156 -13,156

Balance on  
31 Dec. 2013 24) 9,798,926 9,799 23,734 3 -29,621 3,915

* See note I.2
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CONSOLIDATED NOTES 
for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2013

I. GENERAL NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL  
STATEMENTS

1.1 Information about the company
MIFA AG is a company headquartered in Germany (06526 Sangerhausen, Kyselhäuser Strasse 23). The company‘s 
purpose is to manufacture and sell bicycles. MIFA AG is registered with the District Court of Stendal under 
commercial register sheet number 214837. All 9,798,926 shares of MIFA AG are admitted to trading on the 
Regulated Market (Prime Standard) on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (WKN / German Securities Number: A0B95Y). 

With effect as of 27 March 2012, MIFA AG acquired majority interests in Grace GmbH & Co. KG and Grace Verwaltungs 
GmbH, both of which are at Biesenthal, and in e-fab mobility GmbH, located in Berlin. The complete takeover of 
the GRACE Group was completed when the capital increase against non-cash capital contributions was entered 
in the Stendal commercial register on 18 December 2012.

The subsidiary Steppenwolf Bavaria GmbH, Oberhaching, was also founded in the third quarter of 2012. Through 
this company, the significant assets of the insolvent company Steppenwolf GmbH and of its insolvent subsidiary 
Steppenwolf Bikes GmbH, both of which are located at Oberhaching, were acquired on 21 August 2012.

For this reason, MIFA AG prepares a set of consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2013 in which the 
acquired and founded companies are included from the acquisition or foundation date. To this extent, the prior-
year comparable figures showed in the set of consolidated financial statements are not completely compatible as 
the inclusion of the subsidiaries in the previous year was not based on a 12-month period.

On 23 August 2014, the Management Board approved the publication of these interim consolidated financial 
statements as of 31 December 2013. 

1.2 Principles of preparation
The consolidated financial statements for MIFA Mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG (referred to in brief below 
as: MIFA AG) as of 31 December 2013 were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB), London, and the bulletins of the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) applicable on the reporting date for the 
financial statements. IFRS were applied to the extent that they have been endorsed by the European Commission 
for the 2013 financial year. 

1.3 Principles and methods
These consolidated financial statements are based on the historic cost principle. They are prepared on a going 
concern assumption as the Management Board assumes that the requisite refinancing steps can be implemented 
and concluded successfully.

The consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2013 were prepared in euros. Unless otherwise stated, 
all amounts are presented in thousands of euros (EUR ‚000).

The statement of comprehensive income has been prepared according to the nature of expense method. 

In the statement of comprehensive income, and in the balance sheet, individual items are aggregated in order 
to improve clarity. They are explained in the notes to the financial statements. The balance sheet is presented 
according to the term structure of the assets and liabilities. Assets and liabilities are regarded as current if they are 
due, or are to be sold, within one year. Assets and liabilities are correspondingly classified as non-current if they 
remain within the company for more than one year.

Trade receivables and trade payables, income tax liabilities, and inventories are generally reported as current items. 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are generally presented as non-current..
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2. Restatement of earlier periods
As part of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2013, bookkeeping 
and valuation errors were determined to have occurred in the published consolidated financial statements for 
earlier periods. These were primarily related to the Group‘s inventories.

As a consequence, the comparable information for earlier periods that is presented in this set of consolidated 
financial statements has been restated. Specifically, the following items in the financial statements were 
amended:

EUR thousand 2011 2012

Consolidated income statement

Reduction of revenues * -3,465

Change in inventory * -480

Increase in costs of materials * 4,947

Reduction in income taxes * 0

Consolidated balance sheet

Reduction of inventories -13,856 -19,283

Trade receivables 0 -3,465

Increase in tax receivables 966 966

Increase in the loss carried to retained earnings 12,890 21,782

* not presented

3. Effects of new accounting standards
In the year under review 2013, the following financial reporting standards and interpretations were adopted for 
the first time.

Accounting standards applied for the first time in the year under review
Amendments to IFRS 1 “First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards“ that was 
published in December 2010
The first amendment replaces the references to the “1 January 2004“ transition date by “date of transition to 
IFRS“, so that first-time adopters of IFRS do not need to subsequently account for derecognition transactions that 
have occurred before the date of transition to IFRS according to the IFRS derecognition regulations, and adapt 
the presentation accordingly. The second amendment provides application guidelines as to how to approach 
the presentation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS if a company was unable to comply with IFRS 
guidelines for some time because its functional currency was subject to severe hyperinflation. The amendments 
to IFRS 1 are presented in “Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-Time Adopters“, and come 
into force on 1 January 2013. Adoption by the European Union occurred on 11 December 2012. No effects for the 
consolidated financial statements arose from the amendment.

Amendment to IFRS 1 “First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards“ that was 
published in March 2012
This amendment aims to clarify how a first time adopter of IFRS is to account for a government grant with an 
interest rate that does not correspond to the market level at the time of transition to IFRS. Such loans are exempted 
from the full retrospective application of IFRS on transition to IFRS. The adaptation to IFRS 1 is intended to ensure 
that first-time adopters of IFRS can utilise the same exemption regulations as are allowed to appliers of IFRS in 
relation to IAS 20 “Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance“. Adoption by the 
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European Union occurred on 4 March 2013. These amendments are to be applied for the first time prospectively 
for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2013. No effects for the consolidated financial statements 
arose from the amendment.

IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement“
The new standard regulates how fair value is to be measured if another IFRS prescribes fair value measurement 
or the stating of fair value. Which balance-sheet item is to be measured or stated at fair value is not regulated 
in IFRS 13, however, but instead in the individual standards. In addition, a new fair value definition is applicable 
that characterises fair value as the disposal price of an actual or hypothetical transaction between any 
independent market participants under normal market conditions. Adoption by the European Union occurred on 
11 December 2012. This amendment comes into force for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2013. 
These amendments have been applied since 1 January 2013.

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements“
These amendments are intended to improve the presentation of items of OCI (Other Comprehensive Income), and 
to lead to a more similar presentation between IFRS and US GAAP. In this context, OCI is to be split into so-called 
recyclable and non-recyclable items. A similar approach is to be adopted with corporation income taxes incurred 
in the instance of a VAT statement. The recognition of such items is regulated in separate standards. The IASB hopes 
that the amendments will give rise to more consistency, and make it easier to compare financial statements. These 
amendments to IAS 1 are to be applied for the first time prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 
1 July 2012. Adoption by the European Union occurred on 5 June 2012. These amendments have been applied 
since 1 January 2013.

Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets“
These amendments clarify the determination of deferred taxes on investment property measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. It is therefore presumed that realisation of the carrying amount by means of disposal is 
fundamentally crucial for the assessment of deferred taxes for property measured at fair value through profit or 
loss in accordance with IAS 40. The amendments must be applied at the latest with the start of the first financial 
year commencing after 31 December 2012. Adoption by the European Union occurred on 11 December 2012. No 
effects for the consolidated financial statements arose from the amendment.

Amended version of IAS 19 “Employee Benefits“
Perhaps the most significant amendment is the abolition of the postponed reporting of actuarial gains and losses 
by the so-called corridor method. In future, actuarial gains and losses are to be reported fully and immediately 
directly within OCI (Other Comprehensive Income). Further amendments include the presentation and spitting of 
changes to the net liability / asset arising from defined benefit compensation schemes, as well as additional notes 
relating to the characteristics and risks arising from such defined benefit schemes. Adoption by the European 
Union occurred on 5 June 2012. Amended IAS 19 is to be applied for the first time prospectively for financial years 
commencing on or after 1 January 2013. As the Group already reported actuarial gains and losses immediately 
within OCI before the application of these new regulations, these amendments had no effect on the consolidated 
financial statements with the exception of the expansion of the notes to the financial statements.

Additions to IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation“ and to IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure“
With this amendment, the IASB is clarifying the offsetting regulations for financial instruments. The approval of 
this amendment is to eliminate existing inconsistencies in the interpretation of existing regulations relating to the 
offsetting of financial assets and liabilities. In the future, companies are to additionally state gross and net amounts 
arising from the offsetting, as well as amounts for existing offsetting right that do not satisfy accounting offsetting 
criteria. Adoption by the European Union occurred on 13 December 2012. These addition is to be applied for 
the first time prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2014. However, the additional 
disclosures must be applied already for financial years or interim periods from 1 January 2013. For this reason, the 
additions to IFRS 7 have been applied since 1 January 2013.
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Amendments to standards as part of the annual improvements to 2009 – 2011
The following amendments to standards have arisen as a result:

•  IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards“ Permissibility of the repeated 
application of IFRS 1; disclosure of comparable prior-year information in the case of borrowing costs in 
relation to qualifying assets where the capitalisation date precedes transition to IFRS.

•  Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements“ Clarification relating to the requirement for 
comparable prior year information

• IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment“: Clarification of the classification of maintenance equipment

•  IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation“: Income tax effective distributions to the owner of an equity 
instrument must be accounted for in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes

•  IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting“: Continuity of disclosures relating to total segment assets to improve 
consistency with IFRS 8 Operating Segments

 Adoption by the European Union occurred on 27 March 2013. These amendments have been applied since 
1 January 2013.

IFRIC 20 “Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine“
The interpretation developed by the IFRSIC regulates the accounting treatment of stripping costs in the 
production phase of a surface mine. This interpretation clarifies when stripping costs from asset are to be 
recognised, and how initial and subsequent measurement is to be performed. Adoption by the European Union 
occurred on 11 December 2012. IFRIC 20 is to be applied prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 
1 January 2013. No effects for the consolidated financial statements arose from the amendment.

Newly published accounting regulations
At the time when the financial statements for the 1 January to 31 December 2013 reporting period were prepared, 
the following standards and interpretations had already been published, but they are not yet to be applied on a 
mandatory basis, and / or are not yet adopted by the European Union:

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments“
Together with two further additions, this new standard is to replace IAS 39 in relation to the classification and 
measurement of financial assets. The amendments must be applied at the latest with the start of the first financial 
year commencing after 1 January 2013. In December 2011, the IASB decided to move the first-time adoption 
date from 1 January 2013 to 1 January 2015, as only Phase 1 of the project has been concluded to date. Phase 2 
(impairment) and Phase 3 (hedge accounting) are still being discussed. In order to ensure that all future regulations, 
and consequently the final IFRS 9, are applied at the same time, the IASB has now officially postponed the date of 
the coming into force of IFRS 9. Companies can now also refrain from presenting restated prior-year figures when 
applying IFRS 9 for the first time. Adoption by the European Union has not occurred yet. The Group will determine 
the expected effects and set a date for inclusion.

IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements“
The new standard results in the introduction of a uniform applicable consolidation model, and is based on the 
existing principles to identify dominant influence according to which a subsidiary must be included in the scope 
of consolidation of a parent company. The standard also provides further indications that can be helpful when 
determining dominant influence. The introduction of IFRS 10 replaces SIC 12 “Consolidation – Special Purpose 
Entities“ and parts of IAS 27. The new standard must be applied for financial years starting from 1 January 2014. 
Earlier application is possible. Adoption by the European Union occurred on 11 December 2012. The amendment 
will prospectively have no significant effects on the consolidated financial statements.
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IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements“
This new standard is intended to focus strongly on claims and obligations in the case of joint venture companies, 
enabling accounting presentation to be closer to reality. The standard now permits just one accounting method 
for joint venture companies. The coming into force of IFRS 11 cancels SIC 13 “Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-
Monetary Contributions by Venturers“ and IAS 31 “Investments in Joint Ventures“, and consequently quote 
consolidation. Amendments to terminology and to typification of IAS 28 according to which the equity method is 
to be applied, should be noted. The new standard must be applied for financial years starting from 1 January 2014. 
Earlier application is possible. Adoption by the European Union occurred on 11 December 2012. The amendment 
will prospectively have no significant effects on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities“
IFRS 12 forms a new standard relating to the requirements of mandatory disclosures in the notes the financial 
statements for all types of jointly managed companies, including joint ventures, associates, special-purpose entities 
and other off-balance-sheet instruments. The new standard must be applied for financial years starting from 
1 January 2014. Earlier application is possible. Adoption by the European Union occurred on 11 December 2012. 
The amendment will prospectively have no significant effects on the consolidated financial statements. The new 
standard must be applied for financial years starting from 1 January 2014. Earlier application is possible. Adoption 
by the European Union occurred on 11 December 2012. The amendment will prospectively have no significant 
effects on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements“, IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements“ and IFRS 
12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities“
The amendments clarify the transition regulations for first-time adoption of IFRS 10. The amendments to IFRS 
10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 provide exemptions for the first-time application of the standards, as a consequence of 
which adapted comparable information is now to be stated only for the directly preceding comparable period. 
Adoption by the European Union occurred on 4 April 2013. These amendments are to be applied for the first 
time prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2014. Earlier application is possible. The 
amendment will prospectively have no significant effects on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements“
The amendments introduce additional guidelines relating to the accounting treatment of the purchase of shares 
in a joint operation that represents an operating activity. Acquirers of such interests must apply the regulations 
relating to the accounting treatment of business combinations in IFRS 3 “Business Combinations“ and other 
relevant standards, as well as publish the relevant information that is specified in these standards. Adoption by 
the European Union has not occurred yet. These amendments are to be applied for the first time prospectively for 
financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2016. The amendment will prospectively have no effects on the 
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts“
This new standard allows a company that is a first-time adopter of IFRS, with some limited restrictions, continue 
to recognise regulatory deferral accounts that it has reported in financial statements according to its previously 
applied accounting principles. This is applicable in both the first set of IFRS financial statements and in subsequent 
financial statements. Adoption by the European Union has not occurred yet. These amendments are to be applied 
for the first time prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2016. This new standard will 
prospectively have no effects on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers“
The new standard prescribed when and what level a first-time adopter of IFRS has to report revenue. Repairers of 
financial statements are also required to provide readers with more informative and more relevant disclosures than 
has been the case to date. The standard replaces IAS 18 “Revenue“, IAS 11 “Construction Contracts“ and a number 
of revenue-related interpretations. Adoption by the European Union has not occurred yet. These amendments are 
to be applied for the first time prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2017. The Group 
will determine the expected effects and set a date for inclusion.
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Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment“ and IAS 38 “Intangible Assets“
These amendments clarify that the revenue-based method is not an appropriate depreciation method in the 
meaning of IAS 16, as this approach reflects the generation of future economic benefit and not the consumption 
of the future economic benefit. It also clarifies that future expected price declines might be indicated that the 
future economic benefit of the asset is reduced due to its technical or economic obsolescence. Adoption by the 
European Union has not occurred yet. These amendments are to be applied for the first time prospectively for 
financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2016. The amendment will prospectively have no effects on the 
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits“
The amendments clarify the regulations that relate to the attribution of employer contributions or contributions 
from third parties that are connected with the service period to service periods. A solution that makes accounting 
treatment easier is also allowed if the amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service 
rendered. Adoption by the European Union has not occurred yet. These amendments are to be applied for the first 
time prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 1 July 2014. The amendment will prospectively have 
no effects on the consolidated financial statements.

Additions to IAS 32 “Financial Instruments“: Presentation and to IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure“
Adoption by the European Union occurred on 13 December 2013. These additions to IAS 32 are to be applied 
for the first time prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2014. Earlier application is 
possible. The amendment will prospectively have no significant effects on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 36 “Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets“
These amendments to IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets“ relate to the disclosure of information concerning the 
measurement of the recoverable amount of impaired assets to the extent this amount is based on fair value 
less cost to sell. Adoption by the European Union occurred on 19 December 2013. These amendments are to 
be applied for the first time prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2014. Earlier 
application is possible. The amendment will prospectively have no effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendment to IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement“ and IFRS 9 “Financial 
Instruments“
These amendments relate to a note to hedge accounting. In the future, an accounting hedge will be deemed to 
not have ended, including if a derivative is formally derecognised, because a change of counterparty has occurred 
on the basis of novation. Adoption by the European Union occurred on 19 December 2013. These amendments 
are to be applied for the first time prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2014. Earlier 
application is possible. The amendment will prospectively have no effects on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments of two cycles of annual improvements (2010-2012 and 2011-2013)
The first of both collections of amendments standards relates specifically to the following matters:

•  IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment“: Clarification of the definition of exercise terms

•  IFRS 3 “Business Combinations“: Clarification of the accounting treatment of contingent considerations in 
the case of a business combination

•  IFRS 8 “Operating Segments“: Clarification of the aggregation of operating segments and the reconciliation 
of the total of reportable assets of the operating segment with the company‘s assets

•  IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement“: Clarification of the accounting treatment of current receivables and 
liabilities

•  IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment“ and IAS 38 “Intangible Assets“ Clarification of the revaluation 
method – proportional re-presentation of cumulative depreciation and amortisation

• IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures“: Clarification relating to members of the management
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The second of both collections of amendments standards relates specifically to the following matters:

•  IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of international financial reporting standards“: Meaning of first-time application 
date

• IFRS 3 “Business Combinations“: Clarification of the scope of application of the exception for joint ventures

•  IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement“: Clarification of the scope of application of paragraph 52 (exemption for 
portfolios)

•  IAS 40 “Investment Property“: Clarification of the relationship between IFRS 3 and IAS 40 when classifying 
a property as a financial investment or as utilised by its owner 

Adoption by the European Union has not yet occurred. These amendments are to be applied for the first time 
prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 01 July 2014. These amendments will prospectively have 
no effects on the consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC Interpretation 21 “Levies“
This interpretation addresses the question as to on what date a company is required to recognise a liability to the 
extent that it operates on a certain market, and the respective authority levies a corresponding fee on it. IFRIC 21 
relates to an interpretation of IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets“. This interpretation 
is to be applied for the first time prospectively for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2014. Earlier 
application is possible. Adoption by the European Union occurred on 13 June 2014. The amendment will have no 
effects on the consolidated financial statements.

MIFA AG currently anticipates that the application of all the new financial reporting regulations and interpretations 
will have no significant effect on the financial position and results of operations or the cash flow of the future 
Group.

4. Significant accounting and valuation principles

Revenues 
Income is recognised if it is probable that the economic benefits will flow into the Company and that the 
extent of the income can be reliably determined. Income is measured at a fair value through profit or loss of the 
consideration received. Cash discounts, rebates, sales tax and other contributions are not taken into account. In 
addition, the realisation of income requires the fulfilment of the reporting criteria listed below.

a) Proceeds from the sale of goods

Proceeds from the sale of goods are recognised if the significant risks and opportunities associated with ownership 
of the products have been transferred to the customer.

b) Interest income

Income is recognised using the effective interest method at the time when the interest is accrued. Interest 
earnings are reported in the statement of comprehensive income as part of the net financial result.

Research and development costs
For the first time in the 2012 financial year, at the Biesenthal site, expenses amounting to EUR 262 thousand 
were allocated to research and development costs. Research and development costs of EUR 916 thousand were 
expensed in the 2013 financial year.
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Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are reported in the balance sheet if the Group becomes a contractual party 
in a financial instrument. Financial assets are written off if the contractual rights to payments from the financial 
assets expire or the financial assets are transferred with all significant risks and opportunities. Financial liabilities 
are written off if the contractual obligations are settled, set aside, or have expired. Purchases and sales of financial 
instruments customary in the market are in principle accounted for on the trading date. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are in principle reported separately.

Financial assets
The initial inclusion of financial assets is measured at a fair value through profit or loss. For subsequent measurement, 
the financial instruments are allocated to one of the measurement categories listed in IAS 39, to which they are 
designated at the time of their initial inclusion.

The financial assets of the Group include cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables and other receivables as 
well as derivative financial instruments.

Financial assets which are to be assigned to the categories “financial investments held to maturity“ and “financial 
assets available-for-sale“ were neither present on the balance sheet date nor in the previous year.

a) Credits and receivables

Credits and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, which are not 
listed on an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at the depreciated cost of acquisition using 
the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income if the 
credits and receivables are written off or impaired and within the scope of amortisations.

b) Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses interest and currency-related financial instruments for the economic hedging of risks of interest 
rate changes for variable-interest obligations / currency risks from expected purchasing obligations. The interest-
based financial instruments relate to caps, floors and swaps; the currency-related financial instruments exclusively 
comprise forward currency transactions. These derivative financial instruments are allocated where the Group fails 
to fulfil the requirements for the hedging relationship in accordance with IAS 39 for financial assets and financial 
liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss.

At the time of conclusion of the contract, the derivative financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet 
at a fair value through profit or loss and are remeasured at a fair value through profit or loss during the subsequent 
periods, whereby the changes in the fair value through profit or loss shown as netted in the statement of 
comprehensive income are recognised in the financing expenses. Derivative financial instruments are recognised 
as financial assets if the fair value through profit or loss is positive and as financial liabilities if the fair value through 
profit or loss is negative.

Financial liabilities
Upon initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are measured at the fair value through profit or 
loss less the directly attributable transaction costs. The reported financial liabilities regularly substantiate claims 
for repayment in cash or another financial asset. The interest-bearing loans and borrowings subsequently are 
measured at the depreciated cost of acquisition using the effective interest method. 
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Inventories
UInventories are reported as assets held for sale in the ordinary course of business (finished products) and 
consumed within the manufacturing process (raw materials, consumables and supplies) and advance payments.

Raw materials, consumables and supplies are measured at their lower value for acquisition or production costs 
determined on the basis of the average method and their net realisable value at the balance sheet date. The 
recoverable net realisable value is determined from the estimated sale price in the normal course of business less 
the estimated costs of completion and necessary sales costs.

The finished products are reported as costs of production. In addition to direct costs of materials and manufacture, 
the production costs also include reasonable overheads attributable to the production process based on the 
projected capacity.

Advance payments are carried at their nominal amount.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are measured at their cost upon acquisition or production. The cost of an intangible asset acquired 
during a corporate merger corresponds to its fair value through profit or loss on the acquisition date. Intangible 
assets are then reported if it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the Group and the acquisition or production cost of the asset can be reliably measured. For the purpose of 
subsequent evaluation, intangible assets are reported at their cost of purchase or production minus accumulated 
depreciation and ¬accumulated impairment losses (reported in the depreciations). 

Intangible assets (not including goodwill and other assets with an unlimited useful life) are written off on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives and evaluated for a possible impairment if there is evidence that the 
value of the intangible asset could have depreciated. The depreciation period and depreciation method are 
reviewed at the end of each financial year. For intangible assets with an indefinite useful life (EUR 67 thousand; 
2012: EUR 46 thousand), an impairment test is carried out at least once annually for the individual asset or on 
the level of the cash-generating unit. These intangible assets are not written off on a scheduled basis. The useful 
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite 
useful life accounting estimate remains justified. Should this not be the case, the asset is deemed to have a finite 
useful life and a change in the accounting estimate from indefinite to finite is recognised prospectively. Gains and 
losses resulting from the elimination of intangible assets are determined as the difference between the net sale 
proceeds and the carrying value of the asset and are recognised as profit or loss during the period when the asset 
is eliminated.

In particular, the following intangible assets are reported with the following useful lives:

Years useful lives

Software 3 – 5

Industrial property rights / licenses 3 – 7

Customer relationships 7

The industrial property rights and licenses also cover licenses with an indefinite useful life. Internally-generated 
intangible assets are not accounted for in the balance sheet.

Property, plant and equipment
Property plant and equipment are reported at their acquisition costs minus the accumulated depreciations and 
impairments. The acquisition cost of property, plant and equipment comprises the purchase price and other 
associated non-recoverable taxes as well as all other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to its present 
place and into an operating condition ready for its intended use. Subsequent costs such as service or maintenance 
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costs, which are incurred after the fixed assets have entered into operation, are recognised as expenses in the 
period in which they were incurred. Interest paid on loans / borrowings is not capitalised.

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis using the expected useful economic life assuming a residual value 
of EUR 1.00. Depreciation on additions to tangible fixed assets is generally charged on a time-apportioned basis.

In particular, the following useful lives are applied:

Years useful lives

Land and buildings 14 - 50

Technical equipment and machinery  5 - 16

Operating and office equipment  3 - 14

The useful lives, depreciation method and residual values are reviewed annually to ensure that the depreciation 
method and period correspond to the expected economic use of the property, plant and equipment.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised if there is reasonable assurance of the Group‘s compliance with the associated 
conditions. Grants received from third parties which satisfy the objective of promoting investment are recognised 
as reductions in acquisition costs. Grants are then recognised as income by means of a reduced amount of 
depreciation over the duration of the depreciable asset‘s useful life.

Impairment of non-current assets
Non-current assets are reviewed in terms of impairment of value if conditions or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. For the impairment testing, as a first step 
the recoverable amount of the asset / cash-generating unit (CGU) should be determined. For assets, this is the 
higher one of either the fair value through profit or loss less costs to sell or the value in use. Fair value less costs to 
sell is defined as the price that can be achieved as part of the 

sale of an asset or of a CGU between two expert, contractually willing and mutually independent business partners, 
less cost to sell. The value in use of an asset or CGU is determined by the present value of an expected cash flow, 
estimated within the framework of current use.

Previously recorded impairment losses on assets (excluding goodwill) are only reversed and credited to the 
income statement if there are indications that the value impairment no longer exists or may have decreased. The 
reversal is recognised as income in the statement of comprehensive income. The increase in value (or decrease 
in impairment losses) of an asset, however, is only recognised to the extent that it does not exceed the carrying 
amount which would have resulted if no impairment losses had been recognised for the asset in previous years 
(taking into account the depreciation and amortisation effects).

In the 2013 financial year, no evidence of impairment losses or reversals in value of non-current assets arose, 
as in the previous year. Impairment losses of EUR 175 thousand were nevertheless necessitated for plant under 
construction, where future usability or salability is no longer secured.

Cash and short-term deposits
Cash and short-term deposits include cash-in-hand, bank balances as well as short-term deposits with a term of 
less than three months.
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Taxes on income
The income tax expenses represent the sum of actual and deferred income taxes.

The actual income tax expenses are based on the annual earnings, adjusted for items that are neither taxable nor 
deductible and is measured at the amount for which payment to the taxation authorities is expected. Calculation 
occurs using the tax rates applicable or announced on the balance sheet date.

In accordance with IAS 12, taxes on income, deferred taxes are recognised for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts for assets and liabilities in the IFRS balance sheet and the tax balance sheet as well as essentially 
for unused tax losses. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that a taxable profit will become available, 
against which the deductible temporary difference can be applied.

Deferred tax assets are only reported in the extent to which realisation is expected within a foreseeable period. 
The deferred tax assets accounted for in the balance sheet are reviewed in this regard on each balance sheet date.

The deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the tax rates applicable at the time of realisation and / or which 
are to be applied in the future. The tax rate for determining the deferred taxes is 15 % (previous year: 15 %) for 
corporation tax, 5.5 % (previous year: 5.5 %) solidarity surcharge paid on the corporation tax as well as 12.25 % 
(previous year: 12.25 %) for trade tax. This results in a total combined tax rate of 28.08 %. Deferred taxes are 
recognised as tax income / expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

Provisions
Provisions are only reported if the Group has a current (legal or de facto) obligation as a result of past events 
which makes it probable that the fulfilment of the obligation will lead to an outflow of resources that constitute 
economic benefits, and where the extent of the obligation can be reliably estimated. Provisions are reviewed on 
every balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. For provisions that are discounted, the 
increase in the provisions that reflect the time lapsed is recognised as loan / borrowing costs. 

Pension obligations
Pension obligations are measured in accordance with IAS 19 (rev. 2002). In this connection, the pension 
commitments have been considered as a defined benefit plan and therefore measured using the one-off costs 
for the ongoing process, actuarially separated for each plan. An assumed interest rate of 3.6 % (2012: 3.7 %) has 
been taken as a basis. In addition, the biometric accounting principles are used according to the 2005G mortality 
tables compiled by Klaus Heubeck. According to the economic development, pension adjustments of 3.0 % (2012: 
3.0 %) have been taken into account. Since 2012, actuarial gains and losses have been offset directly with equity. 
All assumptions are reviewed on each reporting date for the financial statements. 

Pension obligations are claims arising from insurance policies to cover the pension commitments, where the asset 
value of EUR 260 thousand (2012: EUR 242 thousand) is netted against pension obligations.

Leases
In accordance with IAS 17, leasing contracts are classified as either finance or operating leases. 

Leasing relationships are accounted for in the balance sheet as finance leases if substantially all the risks and 
opportunities associated with ownership of an asset are transferred to the lessee. A leasing relationship is classified 
as an operating leasing relationship if substantially not all the risks and opportunities associated with ownership 
are transferred. 

Assets held within the framework of finance leasing relationships are recognised as assets of the Company at 
their fair value through profit or loss on their acquisition date. The corresponding liability to the lessor should be 
recognised in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. The financing result as the difference between the 
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total leasing liabilities and the fair value through profit or loss of the assets acquired is distributed over the term 
of the corresponding leasing relationship in the statement of comprehensive income to ensure that, over the 
periods, a constant interest rate for the remaining balance of the liabilities is created for each reporting period.

Lease payments made in connection with operating leasing relationships are recognised as profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the corresponding leasing relationship.

As of the balance sheet date, no finance leasing relationships exist.

Foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros, the functional and presentation currency for the 
Group. The items contained in the statement are measured using this functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are initially converted into the functional currency at the spot rate on the day of 
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in a foreign currency are converted into the functional currency on 
each reporting date using the closing rate. All currency differences are recognised as profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities and contingent claims
Contingent liabilities are not reported in the balance sheet provided that these are not associated with corporate 
mergers. They are presented in the notes to the financial statements. No contingent liabilities exist apart from 
guarantees and indemnities and one order commitment.

Contingent claims are not reported in the balance sheet. They are presented in the notes to the financial statements 
if the inflow of economic benefits is probable. No significant contingent claims currently exist.

5. Significant discretionary decisions, estimates and assumptions
Preparation of consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires the use of assumptions and estimates 
that affect the amounts and recognition of assets and liabilities included in the balance sheet, the income and 
expenses as well as contingent liabilities. As a consequence of the uncertainty associated with these assumptions 
and estimates, actual results could in the future result in major adjustments to the carrying amounts of the assets 
and liabilities concerned.

Estimates and assumptions
The most important assumptions related to the future as well as other main sources of estimating uncertainties on 
the reporting date, according to which an appreciable risk exists that a significant alteration might be necessary 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, are explained below.

Impairment of non-financial assets
On each balance sheet date, the Group determines whether evidence of impairment losses exists for non-current, 
non-financial assets (EUR 17,828 thousand; 2012: EUR 20,022 thousand). Intangible assets of indefinite useful life 
are reviewed at least once annually as well as whenever there is evidence of an impairment. Other non-financial 
assets are examined for any impairment in the event of any evidence that their carrying amount may exceed the 
realisable amount. In order to estimate the value in use, Management has to estimate the projected future cash 
flows from the asset or from the cash-generating unit and then select an appropriate discount rate with which to 
determine the present value of the cash flow.

Pension obligations
The expense from defined post-employment benefit plans is determined on the basis of actuarial calculations. 
Actuarial measurements are carried out on the basis of assumptions on discount rates, expected income from 
pension plan assets, future increases in wages and salaries, mortality and future pension increments. Due to 
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the long-term nature of these pension plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. The carrying 
amount for the pension obligations, after offsetting against claims arising from insurance policies to cover the 
pension commitments, is EUR 203 thousand (2012: EUR 179 thousand).

Deferred taxes
For all deductible temporary differences, deferred tax assets are accounted for to the extent that it is probable 
that a taxable profit will become available, against which the deductible temporary difference can be applied. A 
significant discretionary decision by Management is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that 
can be recognised on the basis of the expected time of occurrence and the amount of the taxable future income. 
As of 31 December 2013, deferred tax assets amounting to EUR 1,343 thousand (2012: EUR 1,145 thousand) were 
reported.

In the course of the corporate acquisition of the GRACE Group, existing deferred tax liabilities amounting to 
EUR 476 thousand (2012: EUR 739 thousand) are reported as separate balance sheet items and allocated to non-
current liabilities.

6. Impairments  
Goodwill and intangible assets of indefinite useful life are reviewed annually for impairment (on 31 December). 
During the year, goodwill and intangible assets of indefinite useful life are reviewed in the instance of events that 
indicate impairment. No such events occurred in 2013.

II.  NOTES TO THE ITEMS OF THE BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT 
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes to the statement of comprehensive income

1) Revenues
Revenue arises from the sale of goods, in particular, and is generated on the following markets:

EUR thousand 2012 
restated*

2013

Germany 84,322 86,394

Rest of Europe 22,256 22,809

Other foreign countries 1,221 1,501

107,799 110,704

* See note I.2

Revenues of EUR 15.6 million (14.1 %) are assigned to the largest customer in the Germany segment, and revenues 
of EUR 8.9 million (9.8 %) are achieved with one additional customer in the France segment.

Revenue from services of EUR 751 thousand (2012: EUR 1,241 thousand) included in revenue relates to repairs 
performed to the company‘s own products. 

The sale of bicycles in Germany is subject to strong seasonality. This seasonality is characterised by strong sales in 
spring and summer, and somewhat weaker sales in autumn and winter.

In order to cover the high sales in spring, bicycles are already produced in autumn and winter of the previous year. 
This results in an increase in inventories of finished goods at the year-end. 
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2) Change in inventory
Changes in inventory relate exclusively to finished products, and amounted to EUR 6,010 thousand (2012: 
EUR 1,952 thousand).

* See note I.2 

3) Other operating income
The other operating income mainly results from employment grants, the removal of payments from the use of 
cars, the sale of tangible fixed assets, insurance compensation payments and the reduction of value adjustments.

The table below presents an overview of the composition of other operating income for the financial years 2013 
and 2012: 

EUR thousand 2012 2013

Employment grants 0 28

Removal of payment in kind / other services 136 127

Removal of payments from the use of cars 66 92

Insurance compensation payments 10 21

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 39 12

Income relating to other periods 35 57

Miscellaneous other income 208 80

Total 494 417

The other operating income decreased from EUR 494 thousand in the 2012 financial year by EUR 77 thousand 
(15.6 %) to EUR 417 thousand in the 2013 financial year. This fall is mainly attributable to miscellaneous other 
income.

4) Cost of materials
The cost of materials primarily comprises expenses for raw materials and supplies in an amount of 
EUR 84,930 thousand (2012 restated*: EUR 79,697 thousand) aggregated with expenses for purchased services 
of EUR 1,697 thousand (2012 restated*: EUR 1,890 thousand). The cost of materials ratio (ratio of cost of materials 
to total operating revenue) of 74.0 % in the 2013 financial year fell just slightly short of the previous year‘s level of 
74.2 %.

* See note I.2 

5) Personnel expenses
The personnel expenses are composed as follows: 

EUR thousand 2012 2013

Wages and salaries 13,172 14,407

Social expenses 2,713 2,974

15,885 17,381

Alongside the expenses for payments into a direct insurance policy for pension provision amounting to 
EUR 33 thousand (2012: EUR 27 thousand), personnel expenses also include past service costs from allocations to 
pension provisions amounting to EUR 25 thousand (2012: EUR 19 thousand).
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Since 2012, actuarial gains / losses together with losses incurred due to changes in assumptions (EUR 87 thousand; 
2012: EUR 84) are offset directly against the equity capital. Offsetting occurs after tax and amounts to 
EUR 64 thousand; 2012: EUR 62 thousand.

The average number of Group employees (including 10 apprentices) in the year amounts to:

Employees according to category 2012 2013

Commercial 55 59

Industrial / technical 713 747

768 806

A total of 150 new employees were appointed in connection with the establishment of GRACE production at 
the Sangerhausen site. This led to one-off personnel expenses for training measures and setup handling costs of 
EUR 709 thousand.

6) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
Please refer to the statement of changes in non-current assets (appendix 1) for information about depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment charges incurred in the financial year.

7) Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses mainly comprise expenses for freight and handling (EUR 6,802 thousand; 2012: 
EUR 6,957 thousand), services (EUR 2,263 thousand; 2012: EUR 2,848 thousand), rents and lease payments 
(EUR 972 thousand; 2012: EUR 1,126 thousand) and incidental rental expenses (EUR 1,036 thousand; 2012: 
EUR 1,080 thousand), as well as legal and consultancy costs (EUR 1,783 thousand; 2012: EUR 313 thousand), 
insurance expenses, and telecommunications and repair costs. 

One-off expenses of around EUR 60 thousand were incurred in connection with the change of segment and the 
initial listing in the Regulated Market (Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on 17 July 2012.

With the transfer of production to Sangerhausen and the launch of GRACE e-bikes, as well as the takeover of 
Steppenwolf, one-off costs totalling EUR 444 thousand were incurred in 2012. Additional extraordinary expenses 
of EUR 763 thousand are assigned under items such as tool costs, rent and transport costs as well as trade fair costs 
(mainly due to the Eurobike event in Friedrichshafen) and IT conversion expenses / adaptions. 

The following fees for the services of the auditor of the consolidated financial statements were recognised in 
respect of fees payable for audits of the financial statements (EUR 220 thousand; 2012: EUR 90 thousand) and for 
tax advice (EUR 30 thousand; 2012: EUR 10 thousand).

8) Currency gains / losses
Currency losses and currency gains are incurred as follows:

EUR thousand 2012 2013

Exchange rate gains 1,404 785

Exchange rate losses -955 -1,177

449 -392

These are particularly attributable to the change in the US dollar to euro exchange rate in the 2013 financial year.
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9) Net interest result
The net interest result is composed as follows:

EUR thousand 2012 2013

Interest income 66 50

Interest expenses for pensions 15 15

Deferred interest on bond 0 724

ABCP borrowing costs 0 303

Accrued bond interest expense 0 57

Interest expenses from the discounting of non-current assets 49 0

Interest payments to:

Banks 1,979 809

Miscellaneous 185 127

Interest expenses 2,228 2,035

Net interest result -2,162 -1,985

The risk of a change in interest rates in the future is considered minimal. In the future, a slight rise in interest rates 
is expected. 

As of 31 December 2013, of the total borrowings of MIFA AG of EUR 54,085 thousand (2012: EUR 41,745 thousand), 
EUR 29,891 thousand (2012: EUR 41,745 thousand) carried variable interest, and EUR 24,194 thousand (bond) 
carried a 7.5 % fixed interest rate. MIFA AG has entered into interest-rate swaps, caps and a floor with a total volume 
of EUR 11,000 thousand (2012: EUR 25,000 thousand) in order to limit the negative effect of future increases in 
market interest-rate levels.

The average interest rate of the loans for the financial year is 3.13 % p.a. The margin charged on the loans within 
the framework of interest calculations by the banks is similar to commercial market conditions.

10) Financial instruments
In accordance with IAS 39, the financial assets and financial liabilities are designated to one of the following classes:

a) credits and receivables,
b) financial investments held to maturity,
c) financial assets available-for-sale,
d) financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss,
e) financial liabilities measured at the depreciated cost of acquisition, and
f ) financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss,.

All of the Group‘s financial assets and financial liabilities classified are categorised as credits and receivables, 
financial liabilities measured at the depreciated cost of acquisition, and financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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EUR thousand

Category in 
accordance 
with IAS 39

Carrying 
amount 

31.12.2013

Carrying 
amount as 
per IAS 39 
Amortised  

purchase 
cost 

31.12.2013

Fair value 
through 

profit or loss 
31.12.2013

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents (a) 4,383 4,383 4,383

Trade receivables (a) 4,879 4,879 4,879

Other assets (a) 1,415 1,415 1,415

10,677 10,677 10,677

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings (current) (e) 29,111 29,111 29,111

Interest-bearing borrowings (non-current) (e) 24,944 24,944 24,944

Trade payables (e) 15,680 15,680 15,680

Other liabilities (e) 6,087 6,087 6,087

Other financial liabilities (f ) 663 663 663

76,485 76,485 76,485

EUR thousand

Category in 
accordance 
with IAS 39

Carrying 
amount 

31.12.2012

Carrying 
amount as 
per IAS 39 
Amortised  

purchase 
cost 

31.12.2012

Fair value 
through 

profit or loss 
31.12.2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents (a) 2,251 2,251 2,251

Trade receivables (a) 4,897 4,897 4,897

Other assets (a) 433 433 433

Other financial assets (d) 0 0 0

7,581 7,581 7,581

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings (current) (e) 39,995 39,995 39,995

Interest-bearing borrowings (non-current) (e) 1,750 1,750 1,750

Trade payables (e) 18,228 18,228 18,228

Other liabilities (e) 1,340 1,340 1,340

Other financial liabilities (f ) 532 532 532

61,845 61,845 61,845

Due to the predominantly short terms of the financial assets and financial liabilities, it is assumed that their fair 
values through profit or loss and the carrying amounts are identical. 
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11) Derivative financial instruments
For the purpose of hedging long-term interest rate risks, as of 31 December 2013 MIFA AG has entered into two 
interest-rate swaps with interest-free volumes of EUR 5,000 thousand / EUR 6,000 thousand, for which MIFA AG is a 
fixed payer and receives 3-month EuriBor. One swap started on 31 May 2010 and carries a term until 31 March 2015 
(fixed interest rate 2.28 %, fair value EUR -150 thousand; 2012: EUR -275 thousand). The other interest rate swap was 
entered into on 31 August 2010. It carries a term of five years. The key data are as follows: Fixed interest rate: 2.02 %, 
fair value: EUR -31 thousand (2012: EUR -74 thousand).

MIFA AG had also entered into a floor for EUR 5,000 thousand. It carried a term from 2 December 2008 to 
2 September 2013 (strike rate: 3.79 %, fair value through profit or loss: 2012: EUR -137 thousand).

In the 2013 financial year, two (2012: two) CAPS continued to exist with a total volume amounting to 
EUR 9,000 thousand (EUR 5,000 thousand and EUR 4,000 thousand). They carried terms from 2 December 2008 to 
2 September 2013 and from 30 June 2008 to 28 June 2013. The key data are as follows: Fixed interest rates of 5.5 % 
and 5.45 %, their values EUR 0 thousand and EUR 0 thousand.

Furthermore, during the financial year the Company entered into seven (2012: four) forward currency transactions 
for purchases with a nominal value of USD 22,000 thousand (2012: USD 9,000 thousand) at exchange rates between 
1.3205 and 1.3555 (2012: exchange rate from 1.3020 to 1.3090). The forward currency transactions expired or were 
terminated between 31 January and 28 November 2014 (2012: between 31 January and 28 March 2013).

The fair values through profit or loss are determined as the present values of the cash flows taking into account 
the contractually agreed forward rates and the forward rate on the balance sheet date.

The net earnings from the valuation of the derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss as of 
31 December 2013 is EUR 131 thousand (losses); (2012: EUR 642 thousand (losses)). The changes to the fair values 
through profit or loss can be attributed to changes in the market conditions. There are no significant fair value 
through profit or loss changes due to the default risk of the contracting partners.

MIFA performs the following hierarchical categorisation which takes into account the importance of the factors 
included in the valuations. These comprise three levels:

Level 1: Prices listed on active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

Level 2: Input factors which are not listed prices included at Level 1, but which are observable for the asset or 
liability either directly (in other words, as a price) or indirectly (in other words, derived from prices), and

Level 3: Factors for measuring an asset or liability not based on observable market data  
(non-observable input factors).

As of 31 December 2013, MIFA AG measured the following financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss:

EUR thousand 31.12.2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value through  
profit or loss 0 – 0 –

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through  
profit or loss 663 – 663 –
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As of 31 December 2012, MIFA AG measured the following financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss:

EUR thousand 31.12.2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value through  
profit or loss 0 – 0 –

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through  
profit or loss 532 – 532 –

12) Taxes on income
Taxes on income (2013 and 2012: income) are composed as follows:

EUR thousand 2012 2013

Current tax expenses 71 8

Income due to loss carryback -82 0

Deferred taxes -407 -460

-418 -452

The reported tax expenses include taxes for previous years amounting to EUR 2 thousand (income); 2012: 
EUR 1 thousand (income).

The reconciliation between the income tax expenses and the product of the accounting profit multiplied by the 
applicable tax rate for the Company for the 2013 and 2012 financial years is presented as follows:

EUR thousand 2012 2013

Earnings before tax -10,328 -13,608

Applicable theoretical tax rate in % 28,08 28,08

Theoretical tax -2,900 -3,821

Waiver of capitalisation of deferred taxes on tax loss carryforwards 2,493 3,361

Tax effects / tax-exempt income / non-deductible expense 0 0

Taxes for current year 72 10

Tax loss carryback -82 0

Taxes for previous years -1 -2

Deferred taxes / other 0 0

Actual income tax expense (income) -418 -452

Actual income tax rate in % -4.0 -3.3
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The tax expenses (income) developed as follows:

EUR thousand 2012 2013

Actual tax expenses -11 8

Deferred tax expense in connection with

Equity capital measure 321 0

Pension provision 24 1

Change in deferred tax assets arising from 

time differences -663 -198

and deferred tax liabilities -89 -263

Tax expenses according to the statement of comprehensive income -418 -452

13) Earnings per share
Pursuant to IAS 33, earnings per share, basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the consolidated annual 
earnings attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of shares in issue. 

The 9,798,926 shares in circulation correspond to the issued shares (previous year: 8,759,522 shares). No dilution 
effect occurred during the financial year.

Notes to the balance sheet: Current assets

14) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash holdings and current account credit positions at banks. Such credits 
carried interest on normal banking terms.

15) Trade receivables
Trade receivables amounting to EUR 4,879 thousand (2012: EUR 4,897 thousand) primarily exist with major 
customers of many years‘ standing, which are reviewed regularly with respect to their creditworthiness. Default 
risks in 2012 were only identified for one subsidiary included in the consolidated financial statements for the first 
time. The related receivables position that is more than 60 days due of EUR 656 thousand continues to be carried 
at 75 % of its value outstanding. Further value allowances of EUR 73 thousand needed to be formed in 2013 to take 
into account receivables that are to be viewed as technically in default as part of the ABCP program with DZ-Bank, 
which is being utilised for the first time, as well as specific value allowances of EUR 322 thousand relating to the 
MIFA AG receivables position.

EUR thousand
31.12.2012 

restated*
31.12.2013

Trade receivables 5,389 5,766

less individual value adjustments 492 887

 4,897 4,879

* See note I.2
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As of 31 December, the age structure of the trade receivables was as follows:

EUR thousand 31.12.2012 31.12.2013

Neither overdue nor impaired 3,194 3,415

Overdue, not impaired

1 – 30 days 1,289 1,386

30 – 60 days 104 62

60 – 90 days 169 0

90 – 120 days 141 16

1,703 1,464

As of 31 December 4,897 4,879

16) Inventories
The inventories are composed as follows:

EUR thousand
31.12.2012 

restated*
31.12.2013

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 29,191 25,787

Finished products 19,192 25,203

Advance payments received 0 -4,454

Advance payments 169 179

48,552 46,715

* See note I.2

Inventories are measured at the lower of the acquisition or production costs and their net realisable value. 

Scrappings and eliminations beyond the usual waste within the framework of production have not been carried 
out.

17) Tax receivables
The tax receivables as of 31 December 2013 amounted to EUR 5,100 thousand (2012 re-stated*: 
EUR 2,826  thousand). They consist of VAT credits (EUR 2,807 thousand; 2012: EUR 1,158 thousand), excess tax 
payments (EUR 1,327 thousand; 2012: EUR 620 thousand) and a claim based on a loss report for the years 2010  
and 2011 (EUR 966 thousand *; 2012: claim on the basis of a loss carry back EUR 82 thousand).

* See note I.2

18) Other financial assets
As of 1 January 2012, the other financial assets related primarily to the market values of interest-rate and forward 
currency transactions. They reduced to EUR 0 thousand mainly on the basis of market value fluctuations. 
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19) Other assets 
The other assets are composed as follows: 

EUR thousand 31.12.2012 31.12.2013

Prepaid expenses  70  87

Miscellaneous 363 1,328

433 1,415

In particular, deferred prepayments for insurance were reported as prepaid expenses.

No receivables from investment and similar grants are included in the miscellaneous current assets. An amount of 
EUR 915 thousand (2012: EUR 241 thousand) relates to the amount due within one year arising from the Nextbike Polska 
project, which is connected with the provision of bicycles for the City of Warsaw. In 2012, the amounts from this project that 
were due after one year were reported among other non-current assets accordingly. The outstanding amount from this 
project has now been fully settled.

Notes to the balance sheet: Non-current assets

20) Property, plant and equipment 
Changes to the individual items of non-current assets, including depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 
for the financial year, are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets (appendix 1). 

Additions to property, plant and equipment essentially comprise technical equipment and machinery 
(EUR 793 thousand), operating and office equipment (EUR 1,011 thousand) and plants under construction 
(EUR 758 thousand).

No revaluations were applied to property, plant and equipment. No finance leases exist relating to property, plant 
and equipment. 

21) Intangible assets
Intangible assets predominantly comprise software, industrial property rights and licenses, as well as customer 
relationships acquired in the context of business combinations. 

As a result of the corporate acquisition realised with effect as of 27 March 2012, purchased intangible assets arose 
of EUR 3,832 thousand (including EUR 463 thousand of goodwill). 

Via the subsidiary Steppenwolf Bavaria GmbH, Oberhaching, that was newly formed in 2012, on 21 August 2012, 
the entire customer base, the Steppenwolf brand (umbrella brand and product brands) as well as property, plant 
and equipment was acquired from the insolvency administrator of Steppenwolf GmbH and Steppenwolf Bikes 
GmbH, both based in Oberhaching. This resulted in total expenses of EUR 925 thousand. Based on the purchase 
price allocation (PPA) for the transaction, the brand was assigned EUR 126 thousand and the customer relationships 
EUR 774 thousand. 
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22) Other assets 
This involved the amount in 2012 that was due within five years from the Nextbike Polska project for the provision 
of bicycles for the city of Warsaw. In connection with the discounting of these non-current assets (interest rate: 
5.5 %), interest expenses were incurred amounting to EUR 49 thousand.

23) Deferred tax assets
The deferred taxes (both assets and liabilities) have developed as follows:

EUR thousand 31.12.2012 Change 31.12.2013

Assets

Intangible assets 401 146 547

Property, plant and equipment 363 -39 324

Inventories 201 78 279

Financial liabilities 149 37 186

Pension provisions 40 7 47

1,154 229 1,383

Liabilities

Financial assets 0 0 0

Trade accounts receivable -9 -31 -40

-9 -31 -40

Balance of deferred tax assets 1,145 198 1,343

Although considerable usable tax loss carry forward existed as of the balance sheet date, no corresponding 
application deferred taxes was realised, however.

Within the scope of the corporate acquisition, deferred tax liabilities amounting to EUR 828 thousand were to 
be recognised. As of 31 December 2013, these had reduced due to depreciation by EUR 263 thousand, from a 
EUR 739 thousand (previous year: EUR 89 thousand) to EUR 476 thousand.

Notes to the balance sheet: Current liabilities

24) Interest-bearing loans (current)
The interest-bearing borrowings item exclusively contains bank borrowings. In particular, they serve to finance 
inventories and carry a term of less than one year. Collateralisation occurs according to a collateral pool agreement 
with the banks through the assignment of receivables, stocks, mortgages and the transfer of ownership for 
inventories of financed technical equipment and machines.



Group Management report | Consolidated financial statements   43

Lender Values  
in EUR thousand

Loans and 
borrowings 
31.12.2012

Loans and 
borrowings 
31.12.2013

Average  
interest 

rate in %
Repayment 

until

Sachsen Bank 11,983 10,000 1.96 %

of which 2,000 31. July 2014

of which 8,000 30. Sept. 2014

Deutsche Bank 10,000 8,000 2.83 %

of which 6,500 2,000 31. July 2014

of which 8,000 30. Sept. 2014

Commerzbank 0 8,000 2.09 %

of which 0 2,000 31. July 2014

of which 0 8,000 30. Sept 2014

Spk. Mittelthüringen 9,980 0

DZ-Bank 9,000 600 1.72 % 31. Dec. 2014

Volksbank Berlin 9,000 400 1.72 % 31. Dec. 2014

Total 39,963 29,000

In addition to the loans and borrowings, associated interest liabilities amounting to EUR 111 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 32 thousand) are also included in the balance sheet amount. On the reporting date, there was an overall 
credit line amounting to EUR 31 million (2012: EUR 41 million). 

25) Trade payables
Trade payables amounting to EUR 15,680 thousand (2012: EUR 18,228 thousand) in particular result from goods 
deliveries in preparation for production at the start of the subsequent financial year. A total of EUR 5,800 thousand 
(2012: EUR 7,400 thousand) of the liabilities is assigned to floating payments from parts for production.

26) Provisions
The provisions were formed for warranty claims. They changed as follows:

EUR thousand 2012 2013

As of 01.01. 201 218

Reversal 0 0

Addition (net) 17 252

As of 31.12. 218 470

The provision for warranties was formed for expected follow-up improvement work and credits, and was valued 
on the basis of empirical utilisation values. It is anticipated that most of these costs will be incurred within one 
financial year.
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27) Other liabilities
The other liabilities amounting to EUR 6,087 thousand (2012: EUR 1,340 thousand) comprise mainly liabilities 
arising from advance payments received EUR 4,641 thousand (2012: EUR 0) and liabilities from payroll accounting 
of EUR 4,641 thousand (2012: EUR 0 thousand).

28) Income tax liabilities
The income tax liabilities relate to provisions for trade tax. 

Notes to the balance sheet: Non-current liabilities

29) Bond and loans (non-current)
MIFA AG issued a EUR 25,000 thousand corporate bond on 12 August 2013. The bond matures on 12 August 2018. 
The bond carries 7.5 % per annum interest; it is a subordinated and unsecured bond. 

Bondholders are entitled to call the bond if certain investor protection clauses, especially covenants, are breached. 
If one of such covenants, the minimum 25 % equity ratio, is breached in the IFRS consolidated financial statements, 
the publication of the related set of consolidated financial statements would trigger a special right of termination 
for bondholders.

The non-current interest-bank borrowings relate to bank borrowings connected with the financing of property, 
plant and equipment (nominal amount: EUR 5,000 thousand). The loans carry a term until 29 May 2015. The annual 
repayment instalment amounts to EUR 1,000 thousand in total, plus 1.688 % interest on the respective outstanding 
liability. As of 1 March 2013, the interest rate increased to 1.71 %.

Lender Values  
in EUR thousand

Loans and  
borrowings 
31.12.2012

Loans and  
borrowings 
31.12.2013

Interest rate 
in % p.a.

DZ Bank AG 1,050 450 1.71 %

Volksbank Berlin 700 300 1.71 %

Gesamt 1,750 750

As of 31 December 2013, the maturity of the non-current liabilities is presented as follows: 

EUR thousand
Due within 

1 year
Due in  

1 to 5 years

Due later 
than in  
5 years Total

Non-current liabilities

Bond 0 24,194 0 24,194

Interest-bearing 0 750 0 750

0 24,944 0 24,944
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30) Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations will form for obligations arising from pension entitlements due to 
the Management Board pursuant to IAS 19. This relates to a defined benefit plan where the Company is obligated 
to render the benefits that it has pledged to the beneficiaries. This scheme normally exposes the Group to the 
following actuarial risks:

•  Investment risk: The present value of the defined benefit obligation arising from the scheme is calculated 
applying the discounting rate that is determined on the basis of the yields on a subordinated fixed interest 
corporate bonds. If the income from the plan assets lies below this interest rate, this results in the scheme 
being insufficiently covered.

•  Interest-rate risk: A fall in bond yields increases plan liabilities, although this is partly offset by higher 
income from investing plan assets in fixed interest debt instruments.

•  Longevity risk: The present value of the defined benefit obligation from the scheme is calculated on 
the basis of the best possible estimate of the probability of mortality of the beneficiary, during both the 
working lifetime and retirement. An increase in the life expectancy of the beneficiary results in an increase 
in the plan liability.

•  Salary risk: The present value of the defined benefit obligation arising from the scheme is calculated on the 
basis of the beneficiaries‘ future salaries. As a consequence, increases in the beneficiaries‘ salaries result in 
an increase in the plan liability.

The level of the pension obligation (actuarial present value of the defined benefit obligation) was calculated 
applying actuarial methods for which estimates are indispensable. Along with assumptions relating to life 
expectancy, which were calculated on the basis of the Heubeck-Richttafeln mortality tables, and invalidity, the 
following premises played a role:

31.12.2012 31.12.2013

Assumed interest rate 3.7 % 3.6 %

Pension trend 3.0 % 3.0 %

These actuarial assumptions can diverge from actual results due to changes in market conditions and the economic 
environment, higher or lower exit rates, longer or shorter life duration of the insured parties, as well as due to other 
estimated factors. Such deviations can affect pension obligations recognised in future reporting periods.

The pension obligations are claims arising from insurance policies to cover the pension commitments, where the 
asset value amounting to EUR 260 thousand (2012: EUR 242 thousand) is netted against pension provisions.
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The amounts reported in the statement of comprehensive income in connection with the defined benefit pension 
obligations are as follows:

EUR thousand 2012 2013

Current past service cost 19 25

Net interest expense 15 16

Components of the defined benefit costs reported in  
the income statement 34 41

Re-measurement of the net liability arising from the defined benefit plans:

Loss on plan assets

Actuarial gains and losses from

changes to financial assumptions 86 9

Experience-based adjustments 0 -6

Components of the defined benefit costs reported in  
other comprehensive income 86 3

Total 120 44

The pension provisions changed as follows:

EUR thousand 2012 2013

Pension provisions at the start of the financial year 75 179

+ allocation to provisions (service cost) 19 25

+ allocation to provisions (interest cost) 15 16

+ increase in plan assets -16  -18

+ actuarial losses 86 3

Pension provisions at the end of the financial year 179 205
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EUR thousand 2012 2013

Defined benefit obligation

as of 01.01 301 421

Current service cost 19 25

Interest expenses 15 16

Actuarial losses / gains 86 3

as of 31.12 421 465

Fair value of plan assets

as of 01.01 -226 -242

Expected return on plan assets -6 -8

Contributions to plan assets -10 -10

Actuarial losses 0 0

as of 31.12. -242 -260

Reconciliation of net obligations

Performance-orientated obligation at the end of the financial year 421 463

Fair value of plan assets -242 -260

Present value of pension obligations at the end of the financial year 179 203

Expected pension costs for the following year

Current service cost 25 26

Interest expenses 16 17

Expected returns on plan assets -6 -6

Total pension costs 35 37

Further expected development

Pension provision at the start of the following year 179 205

plus pension costs 41 43

less contributions -10 -10

Pension provision at the end of the following year 210 238

The contribution that is expected to be deposited during the following period under review amounts to 
EUR 10 thousand.
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The discount rate is the the significant actual assumption that is utilised to calculate the defined benefit 
obligation. If the discount rate increases (falls) by 100 basis points, the defined benefit liability would decrease by 
EUR 80 thousand (increased by EUR 101 thousand), as long as all of the remaining assumptions are unchanged.

The average expected residual working life of the beneficiaries amounts to 4.6 years. Their average expected 
remaining life expectancy stands at 23.9 years.

31) Deferred tax liabilities
These deferred tax liabilities, amounting to EUR 828 thousand, were incurred within the course of the acquisition 
of the GRACE Group and, as of 31 December 2013, amount to EUR 476 thousand (2012: EUR 739 thousand).

32) Equity
The approved annual financial statements of MIFA AG prepared according to German Commercial Code (HGB) 
accounting standards were presented to the AGM on 28 May 2013. The AGM approved carrying forward the 
net retained profits of EUR 4,945,420.76 as reported in the 2012 financial statements to a new account. The 
Management and Supervisory boards were discharged. A resolution was also passed to cancel the existing 
approved capital, and to create a new approved capital of EUR 4,899,463; to this end, Section 5 (4) of the articles of 
incorporation was reformulated as follows: (Extracts)

“The Management Board shall be authorised, with Supervisory Board assent, to increase the share capital 
in the period until 27 May 2018, once or in partial amounts, by a total of up to EUR 4,899,463 through issuing 
up to 4,899,463 new ordinary bearer shares against cash or non-cash capital contribution (approved capital).“ 
Shareholders shall be granted subscription rights in this context. 

Shareholders‘ subscription rights can be excluded. 

With the entry in the commercial register on 13 July 2012 of the capital increase that was approved on 27 June 2012, 
the company’s share capital was increased by EUR 1,600,000 from previously EUR 8,000,000 to EUR 9,600,000 
through issuing 1,600,000 new ordinary bearer shares. 

The company generated EUR 11,200,000.00 of gross issue proceeds from the capital increase (EUR 7.00 per share). 
The costs of the capital increase came in at EUR 822 thousand; these were offset against the capital reserve.

With the entry in the commercial register on 18 December 2012 of the capital increase against non-cash capital 
contributions, the company’s share capital was increased by EUR 198,926 from EUR 9,600,000 to EUR 9,798,926 
through issuing 198,926 new ordinary bearer shares. 

All 9,798,926 shares of MIFA Mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG were admitted on 16 July 2012 to trading on the 
Regulated Market – Prime Standard – on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Initial listing in the Prime Standard occurred 
on 17 July 2012.

The subscribed capital amounted to EUR 9,798,926 as of the reporting date, and is split into 9,798,926 ordinary 
bearer shares (no par value shares) each with a notional amount of EUR 1.00. 

As of the balance sheet date, the shares are held as follows:

Number 
(in thousands)  %

Carsten Maschmeyer 2,692 27.5

Peter Wicht 2,355 24.0

AFM Holding GmbH 372 3.8

Free float 4,380 44.7

9,799 100.0
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The statutory reserve has not been endowed, because the capital reserves under commercial law of MIFA AG 
amounting to EUR 25,259 thousand are already sufficient for the provision of Section 150 (2) of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG). Statutory reserves are not provided for.

In agreement with the Supervisory Board, the Management Board proposes to carry forward to a new account 
the EUR 5,058,370.10 loss for the period after withdrawing EUR 2,946.36 from the revenue reserves and after 
withdrawing EUR 24,769,105.00 from the capital reserve.

Please refer to the consolidated statement of changes in equity for information about changes to equity.

III. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
In accordance with IAS 7, the cash flow statement shows how the cash of MIFA AG changed over the course of the 
year under review as a result of inflows and outflows.

The cash flow statement differentiates between cash changes arising from operating activities, investing activities 
and financing activities. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cheques and cash positions, as well as bank accounts 
in credit less any overdraft positions.

The cash flow from operating activities improved by EUR 8,045 thousand compared with the previous year to a 
cash outflow of EUR 7,431 thousand (2012: EUR 15,476 thousand).

The cash flow from financing activities totalling EUR 12,253 (2012: EUR 19,763 thousand), in addition to the net  
proceeds from the bond issue of EUR 24,137 thousand (2012: proceeds from capital increase of EUR 10,290 thousand), 
is mainly composed from the drawing down of new loans in an amount of EUR 11,596 thousand (2012: 
EUR 17,473 thousand), and the repayment of loans in an amount of EUR -23,480 thousand (2012: 
EUR -8,000 thousand).

After deducting cash flows from investing activities (EUR -2,690 thousand; 2012: EUR -4,385 thousand), financing 
activities (EUR 12,253 thousand; (2012: EUR 19,763 thousand)) and operating activities (EUR -7,431 thousand; (2012: 
EUR -15,476 thousand)), an increase in cash and cash equivalents of EUR 2,132 thousand to EUR 4,383 thousand 
arises.

Cash and cash equivalents are composed as follows

EUR thousand 2012 2013

Current accounts in credit 2,245 4,364

Cash 6 19

2,251 4,383

No significant non-cash-effective investing or financing transactions occurred in addition to the capital increase 
against non-cash capital contributions.
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IV. SEGMENT REPORTING
MIFA AG produces and sells e-bikes, mountain bikes and other bicycles, and is divided into three reporting 
segments organised according to geographic areas as follows:

•  Germany produces mainly e-bikes, mountain bikes and other bicycles for wholesalers, retailers and 
specialist dealers. The production location is allocated here.

• The France segment is mainly allocated to the sale of bicycles to Decathlon.

• Austria, Switzerland, Holland and Denmark are the main contributors to the other international segments.

The financing function is generally allocated to holding / reconciliation; this area also includes legal and consulting 
expenses. The company management monitors the operating reporting segments’ results separately for the 
purposes of allocating resources and measuring performance on the basis of operating results. No business 
transactions occurred between the operating segments. 

Non tax-deductible goodwill is primarily attributed to expected synergy effects from cost reduction potentials and 
allocated to the Germany segment. 

EUR thousand
Germany 

2013
France 

2013

Other 
International 

2013

Holding /  
Recon-

ciliation 
2013

MIFA  
total 
2013

Revenues 86,394 9,825 14,485 0 110,704

Other own work capitalised 332 0 0 0 332

Other operating income 0 0 0 417 417

Change in inventory 4,690 534 786 0 6,010

Cost of materials 67,604 7,692 11,331 0 86,627

Personnel expenses 13,303 1,514 2,230 334 17,381

Depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment losses 3,418 389 573 0 4,380

Other operating expenses 12,886 1,466 2,160 3,663 20,175

Segment – operating profit (EBIT) -5,795 -702 -1,023 -3,580 -11,100

Segment assets 58,884 4,724 6,958 11,097 81,663

Segment liabilities 17,726 2,017 2,970 55,035 77,748
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EUR thousand
Germany 

2012*
France 
2012*

Other 
International 

2012*

Holding /  
Recon-

ciliation 
2012*

MIFA  
total 

2012*

Revenues 84,322 12,150 11,327 0 107,799

Other own work capitalised 219 0 0 0 219

Other operating income 0 0 0 494 494

Change in inventory 1,527 220 205 0 1,952

Cost of materials 63,818 9,196 8,573 0 81,587

Personnel expenses 12,168 1,753 1,634 330 15,885

Depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment losses 2,696 389 362 0 3,447

Other operating expenses 12,149 1,751 1,632 1,986 17,518

Segment – operating profit (EBIT) -4,763 -719 -669 -1,822 -7,973

Segment assets 61,193 6,073 6,175 6,685 80,126

Segment liabilities 16,216 2,230 2,079 42,528 63,053

* Restated; see note I.2

V. OTHER DISCLOSURES

1. Financial risk management objectives and policies

Capital management
The objective of MIFA AG‘s capital management is to ensure good balance sheet ratios with a view to the rating of 
the Company and with it also the creditworthiness and independence of the Company. Changes to the economic 
conditions are taken into account when managing the company‘s capital structure. The equity ratio, leverage and 
interest cover are all used to monitor the capital structure. 

The equity ratio (equity capital / balance sheet total) amounted to 4.8 % as of 31 December 2013 (2012: 21.3 %). 
Leverage (liabilities / equity capital) stood 1,985.9 % as of 31 December 2013 (2012*: 369.3 %). The interest cover 
(income before taxes and financing expenses / financing expenses) amounted to -585.5 % for the 2013 financial 
year (2012: -377.7 %).

* See note I.2 

Credit risks
Credit risks arise when customers / transaction partners cause a financial loss by not meeting their payments or 
another performance obligations. At MIFA AG, credit risks arise particularly in the form of default risks.

The extent of MIFA AG‘s exposure to default risks results from the total value of its receivables. It is not exposed 
to any extraordinary default risks in respect of individual contractual partners or groups of contractual partners. 
Creditworthiness screening for checking and monitoring the creditworthiness of our customers and continuous 
monitoring of trade receivables serves to minimise the default risks. Default risks generally take into account 
individual value adjustments.

No indications existed on the reporting date for the financial statements that trade receivables, which were neither 
impaired nor overdue, would not be settled.
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Liquidity risks
Liquidity risks arise when MIFA AG, due to a lack of cash or cash equivalents, is not in the position to fulfil existing 
or future payment obligations when due. 

MIFA AG monitors its current liquidity position on a daily basis. Taking into account the projected earnings for 
2014, the available liquid funds and existing credit lines are sufficient for financing the current business activities. 
Planning takes into account the terms of the financial investments and financial assets as well as the cash flows 
generated from the current business activities.

The table below shows the contractual maturities for the Company‘s non-derivative financial liabilities. The table 
is based on undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Company can 
be obliged to make a payment. The table contains both interest and capital payments. When interest payments 
are based on variable parameters, the undiscounted amount takes as its basis the interest rate curves at the end 
of the reporting period.

EUR thousand
Carrying 
amount Up to 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

31 December 2013

Non-interest-bearing 21,767 21,767 0 0 21,767

Fixed interest instruments 24,194 1,875 32,500 0 34,375

Variable interest instruments 29,861 30,607 0 0 30,607

31 December 2012

Non-interest-bearing 19,568 19,568 0 0 19,568

Variable interest instruments 41,745 41,438 1,793 0 43,231

Market risks
Market risks are the risks that the fair value through profit or loss or future cash flows from a financial instrument 
may fluctuate due to changes in market prices. Market risks include currency risks and interest rate risks.

Currency risks
Currency risks as defined by IFRS 7 arise on account of financial instruments that are of a monetary nature and 
denominated in a currency that differs from the functional currency.

MIFA AG obtains the components required for manufacturing bicycles from leading global suppliers. Purchases are 
made partly in US dollars and partly in Japanese yen. Therefore, it cannot be excluded that currency fluctuations 
have an adverse effect on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Company. 

MIFA AG primarily sells its products in the Eurozone. A reduction of the currency risk should be achieved through 
the development of sales activities in the US dollar zone. 

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity of derivatives accounted for on the reporting date to a reasonable 
possible change in the US dollar exchange rate (currency-based transactions). In order to assess the currency risk, 
the EUR / USD exchange rate for each day of 2013 and 2012 was correlated by market data provider, Bloomberg. 
The standard deviation of this statistical series was subsequently determined. The FX shock is described as the ad 
hoc shift in the exchange rate by the standard deviation in both directions. 
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If all other variables remain constant, the annual earnings before tax will be affected as follows:

Standard  
deviation of USD

Effects on the  
earnings  

before tax 
(EUR thousand)

Effects on the 
equity  

(EUR thousand)

2013 +0.0261 -296 -231

-0.0261 +307 +240

2012 +0.0327 -170 -122

-0.0327 +178 +128

Interest rate risks
Risks of interest rate changes arise on the basis of changes to the market interest rate and may lead, with fixed-
rate financial instruments, to changes in the fair value through profit or loss and, with variable interest-bearing 
financial instruments, to interest payment fluctuations. Risks of interest rate changes are mainly of significance in 
the financial sector, but not in the operating sector.

MIFA AG has entered into interest-rate swaps (subscription amount: EUR 11,000 thousand) to hedge interest-rate 
risks arising from variable interest borrowings.

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity of derivatives accounted for on the reporting date to a reasonable 
possible change in the interest rates (interest and currency-based transactions). These scenarios are orientated 
towards the specifications by the German Federal Authority for the Supervision of Financial Services (BaFin) for 
credit institutions and take into account the essential requirements in accordance with circulars 7 / 2007 and 
11 / 2011 in the case of a sudden and unexpected change in interest rates (interest rate shock). The extent of the 
interest rate shock is calculated in circular 07 / 2007 on the basis of the 1st and 99th percentiles of the changes in 
interest rates observed over the past five years. The difference between the reference interest rate on each day 
and that for 240 days previously is determined for each trading day for these five years. Presently, the level of the 
both interest rate shocks amounts to +200 basis points and -200 basis points. These interest rate shocks have been 
considered as an ad hoc (“overnight“) parallel shift in the yield curve by the predetermined value. The scenarios 
have been selected very conservatively and should be considered as a sort of stress test. If all other variables 
remain constant, the annual earnings before tax will be affected as follows:

Increase /  
decrease in 
basis points

Effects on the ear-
nings before tax 
(EUR thousand)

2013 +200 +402

-200 -558

2012 +200 +537

-200 -639

2. Events after the reporting date for the financial statements
When preparing its annual financial statements for the 2013 financial year, MIFA‘s Supervisory Board determined 
that the accounting valuation of its raw materials and supplies, as well as finished goods, had been overstated, 
and consequently required correction. An initial appraisal by MIFA that was conducted on the basis of a volume 
component found to be erroneous by the auditor suggested a prospective net loss on operating activities 
of approximately EUR 15 million for the 2013 financial year, which was communicated as part of an ad hoc 
announcement published on 20 March 2014. As the previous sole Managing Board member of MIFA, Peter 
Wicht, was unable to work due to illness, the Supervisory Board appointed certified public auditor Hans-Peter 
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Barth to be Managing Board member responsible for Finance and Administration with effect as of 20 March 
2014. Along with assuming the previous area of responsibilities of Peter Wicht, his primary task was then to 
investigate how the prospective net loss for the year had arisen, and to secure MIFA‘s further financing. An 
equity investment by Indian bike manufacturer Hero Cycles Ltd. (“HERO“) ranked, and continues to rank, as one 
of the potential financing options for MIFA. Negotiations with HERO about a strategic partnership – including 
in development work and purchasing – had already started in July 2013. MIFA and HERO also signed a letter of 
intent on 20 March concerning a cooperation venture whereby HERO would acquire a EUR 15 million equity 
investment in MIFA subject to conclusive due diligence and the negotiation of further contracts. 

Given the strained financing position, MIFA‘s Managing Board mandated consultancy firm Ernst & Young 
GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft to prepare a reorganisation survey in line with the requirements for the 
preparation of reorganisation concepts (Standard 6 of the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany – IDW S6). In 
order to close potential liquidity gaps, MIFA entered into agreements with important contractual partners relating 
to the further financing of the operating business. This included signing a sale and lease back agreement on 16 
April 2014 with the local authority of Mansfeld-Südharz relating to a plot of operating land, which generated 
EUR 5.7 million of proceeds for MIFA. Economic ownership of the land nevertheless remained with MIFA after 
the transaction. MIFA continues to use the land in its entirety, leasing it back on standard market terms as part of 
the agreement. Further negotiated included raising a shareholder loan of EUR 2.5 million, deferrals of liabilities to 
suppliers, and early payments by some customers against discount. A standstill agreement was negotiated with 
the financing banks and merchandise insurers that should provide MIFA with the requisite scope to develop 
essential restructuring measures and implement them.

On 16 April 2014, previous Managing Board member Peter Wicht stepped down from his post for health reasons. 
On the same day, the Supervisory Board appointed Dr. Stefan Weniger as the new Managing Board member 
with responsibility for reorganisation and restructuring. Dr. Weniger, a lawyer and business administrator who is 
the managing director of a consultancy firm that specialises in reorganisation advice, has since been responsible 
for developing an overall restructuring concept.

During the further course of preparing the 2013 annual financial statements, it was found that, along with the 
aforementioned volume component, the valuations of raw materials and supplies, as well as finished products, 
had been overstated for several financial years due to a valuation component. Moreover, the valuation of trade 
receivables had been overstated in the 2012 financial year due to an erroneous sales revenue deferral. The 
corresponding corrections resulted in a restatement of the profit and loss items of sales revenue, changes in 
inventory, customer materials, as well as the corresponding balance sheet items, and generally fed through to 
extraordinary expenses of EUR 22.7 million in the financial year elapsed (a detailed presentation of the effects 
on the balance sheet and income statement items for the individual financial years can be found in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements). This resulted in a EUR 35.0 million net loss for the 2013 financial year, 
and a cumulative loss of EUR 4.7 million for the year included in retained earnings as of 31 December 2013. 
The reasons for the previous years‘ erroneous financial statements have not yet been clarified conclusively. The 
suspicion exists, however, that these erroneous valuations were caused by manual interventions within the 
financial bookkeeping system.

Also after the erroneous accounting was made public, Indian bicycle manufacturer HERO decided to maintain 
its planned strategic partnership, as well as its intended equity investment in MIFA. Based on conclusive due 
diligence, HERO arrived at the assessment that it was possible to reorganise and restructure MIFA‘s business. 
On 19 May 2014, MIFA and OPM Global B.V., a HERO subsidiary, signed an investment agreement for an equity 
investment of EUR 15 million. In this agreement, OPM Global B.V. generally committed itself to underwrite cash 
capital increases of EUR 15 million from MIFA‘s existing authorised capital. This investment commitment is subject 
to various suspensive conditions. These particularly include a creditors‘ reclaim waiver relating to the MIFA 
corporate bond that was issued in August 2013 in an amount of between EUR 15 million and EUR 20 million, 
and an exemption by the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) from the obligation to issue a 
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public takeover offer pursuant to the German Securities Trading and Acquisition Act (WpÜG). 

On 23 May 2014, MIFA, in a first step, requested its bondholders to vote on three points by way of voting without 
convening a meeting: the appointment of a joint representative for the bondholders, the deferral of interest 
claims arising from the bond that were due for the first time on 12 August 2014, and the temporary suspension 
of bondholders‘ call rights, in each case until 31 October 2014. The 50 % quorum of outstanding bonds required 
for passing a resolution was not reached in this context, as a consequence of which the proposed resolutions 
could not be approved as part of the voting without convening a meeting. As part of the second creditors‘ 
meeting that was held on 23 July 2014, the requisite attendance was satisfied, and the planned resolutions were 
approved. The Joint Representative of all bondholders that was elected on 23 July 2014, One Square Advisory 
Services GmbH, had deferred the interest claims that were due on 12 August 2014 until initially 25 August 2014, 
and wished to assert no rights arising from the bond during this period. 

On 22 August 2014, the company entered into an agreement relating to the restructuring of the bond and 
the company‘s equity with the new investor Hero Ltd. and the bondholders‘ joint representative. Accordingly, 
the holders of the MIFA bond are being called upon by way of voting without convening a meeting to vote 
concerning a reduction of EUR 15 million of the principal claim of the MIFA bond from a current nominal amount 
of EUR 25 million to subsequently EUR 10 million, among other matters. The difference of EUR 15 million is to 
be converted into new shares as part of a non-cash capital increase (debt for equity swap). In addition, the MIFA 
bond is to be provided with additional collateral in the form of certain assets in a value of up to EUR 7.5 million.

The bondholders are also to be called upon to decide concerning a waiver of the approximately EUR 1.9 million 
of interest claims that have arisen between 12 August 2013 (inclusive) and 11 August 2014 (inclusive). As with the 
aforementioned differential amount, the accrued interest is to be added to MIFA‘s equity. In addition, a proposal 
is being put to the bondholders to postpone the final maturity date of the MIFA bond until 12 August 2021 
(instead of 12 August 2018), accompanied by a reduction in the annual interest rate from currently 7.5 percent 
to a restructuring interest rate of 1 percent per annum for the period between 12 August 2014 (inclusive) and 
11 August 2021 (inclusive).

As consideration for the reduction in the principal claim of the MIFA bond, and following a simplified reduction 
in share capital in a 1:100 ratio (“capital write-down“) that is to be approved by an EGM, the bondholders are to 
receive the right to acquire New Shares which are to be issued under exclusion of old shareholders‘ subscription 
rights as part of a debt for equity swap to be approved by the EGM, and which are to be initially subscribed for 
and underwritten by a processing agent.

In a further step, current planning initially envisages a capital increase against cash capital contributions in relation 
to the investment of OPM Global B.V. As part of a further capital increase against cash capital contributions, it is 
also planned to offer New Shares to the existing shareholders and the bondholders. In this context, OPM Global 
B.V. has undertaken to subscribe for shares that are not taken by the old shareholders and the bondholders. Total 
issue proceeds of at least EUR 15 million are to accrue to MIFA as part of the capital increases. If the planned 
capital measures are implemented successfully as set out above, OPM Global B.V. and other new shareholders 
would hold around 89 percent of the total number of outstanding shares of MIFA, around 10 percent would 
then be held notionally by the bondholders, and around 1 percent would be held by current shareholders of 
MIFA.

The agreement concluded between MIFA, the bondholders‘ Joint Representative, and OPM Global B.V. is subject 
to various suspensive conditions. The implementation of the agreed reorganisation structure is to be concluded 
by March 2015. The company will soon convene the meetings that are required for the related implementation 
– especially the meeting of the bondholders and the corresponding the requisite Shareholders‘ General 
Meeting. These meetings will occur prospectively in November, thereby concluding the company‘s financial 
reorganisation as far as possible.
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3. Contingencies and other financial obligations
In the 2012 financial year, MIFA AG joined a consortium which established a bicycle rental system in Warsaw, 
Poland. Within the framework of this consortium agreement, MIFA AG assumes joint and several liability in 
the event of the consortium manager‘s absence. In connection with the takeover and continuation of the 
consortium obligation, MIFA AG assumed that the cost risk will only have an insignificant impact on the results 
of operations of the Group. MIFA AG has now left the consortium, and its own claims of EUR 915 thousand were 
fully repaid.

Other financial obligations comprise purchasing commitments for raw materials, consumables and supplies of 
approximately EUR 25,000 thousand (2012: EUR 29,000 thousand). These comprise euros, US dollar and Japanese 
yen, in equal parts. Otherwise no further other financial obligations exist.

4. Business transactions with related parties
Apart from the Board of Management activities of Mr. Peter Wicht, no business transactions were conducted 
with related parties in the 2013 financial year.

As of 31 December 2013, no receivables and payables were connected with related parties. 

5. Auditor‘s fee
The total fee for the auditor of MIFA AG calculated for the financial year amounts to EUR 250 thousand. The fee is 
broken down as follows:

EUR thousand Auditor‘s fee

a) Auditing services 220

b) Other certification services 0

c) Other services 30

Total 250

6. Management and Supervisory boards
During the period under review, Mr. Peter Wicht, Wohlmirstedt, was the sole CEO of MIFA AG. The remuneration for 
the CEO amounted to EUR 334 thousand.

Mr. Peter Wicht stepped down from the Management Board of MIFA AG on 16 April 2014. Mr. Hans-Peter Barth, 
Wiesbaden, (from 20 March 2014) and Mr. Stefan Weniger, Berlin, (from 16 April 2014) were appointed as the new 
members of the Management Board. Mr. Barth has now been appointed to be the Management Board Chairman 
(CEO) by the company‘s Supervisory Board.

In return for their activities the members of the Supervisory Board received a fixed remuneration amounting to 
EUR 18 thousand (2012: EUR 22 thousand). No variable remunerations were granted. 

The following gentlemen were members of the Company‘s Supervisory Board in the period under review:

• Uwe Lichtenhahn, Mannheim (Chairman), former Director of Sparkasse (savings bank).

• Ralf Poschmann, Sangerhausen (Deputy Chairman), Mayor of the City of Sangerhausen.

•  Professor Dr.-Ing. Klaus-Dietrich Kramer, Berga (from 28 February 2012 on until 2 June 2014), head of the 
Institut für Automatisierung und Informatik GmbH Zentrum für industrielle Forschung und Entwicklung, 
Wernigerode
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Professor Dr. Klaus-Dietrich Kramer has resigned as a member of the Supervisory board for important reasons, 
effective 2 June 2014. On application by the company, Professor Dr. Utz Claassen was appointed to the Supervisory 
Board effective 3 June 2014 by the municipal court Stendal according to § 104 Abs. 1 Satz 1 AktG. 

Mr. Lichtenhahn is also a member of the supervisory board of Hyrican Informationssysteme AG, Kindelbrück. 
Mr. Poschmann is also Supervisory Board chairman at Kommunale Bädergesellschaft mbH, Stadtwerke 
Sangerhausen GmbH, Sangerhäuser Erneuerbare Energien und Service Gesellschaft mbH, and Städtische 
Wohnungsbaugesellschaft mbH Sangerhausen. He is also member of various other German company boards.
Professor Dr. Claasen is currently Chairman of the Supervisory Board of the Syntellix AG, Hannover and Member of 
the Board of Directors at the football club RCD Mallorca.

Sangerhausen, 23 August 2014

MIFA Mitteldeutsche Fahrradwerke AG

Hans-Peter Barth   Dr. Stefan Weniger 
CEO    Management Board member
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Acquisition and production costs Cumulative depreciation, amortisation and impairment Carrying amounts

EUR thousand
As of 

01/01/2013 Addition Transfer Disposal
As of 

31/12/2013
As of 

01/01/2013

Depreciation, 
amortisation 

and impairment 
losses for the 
financial year Disposal

As of 
31/12/2013

As of 
31/12/2012

As of 
31/12/2013

Intangible assets   

IT software 664 125 10 11 788 531 88 11 608 133 180

Industrial property 
rights and licenses

1,644 21 0 0 1,665 984 276 0 1,260 660 405

Customer relationships 9,115 0 0 0 9,115 4,982 1,815 0 6,797 4,133 2,318

Goodwill 463 0 0 0 463 0 0 0 0 463 463

Total intangible assets 11,886 146 10 11 12,031 6,497 2,179 11 8,665 5,389 3,366

Property, plant 
and equipment  

  

Land and buildings 8,789 0 0 0 8,789 3,201 527 0 3,728 5,588 5,061

Technical equipment 
and machinery

13,002 82 711 0 13,795 6,832 1,004 0 7,836 6,170 5,959

Operating and of-
fice equipment

3,445 890 121 86 4,370 2,098 495 77 2,516 1,347 1,854

Plant under construction  1,015 1,590 -842 0 1,763 0 175 0 175 1,015 1,588

Total property, plant 
and equipment  

11,886 146 10 11 12,031 6,497 2,179 11 8,665 5,389 3,366

26,251 2,562 -10 86 28,717 12,131 2,201 77 14,255 14,120 14,462

Non-current assets 38,137 2,708 0 97 40,748 18.628 4.380 88 22.920 19.509 17.828

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN  
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
as of 31 December 2013
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Acquisition and production costs Cumulative depreciation, amortisation and impairment Carrying amounts

EUR thousand
As of 

01/01/2013 Addition Transfer Disposal
As of 

31/12/2013
As of 

01/01/2013

Depreciation, 
amortisation 

and impairment 
losses for the 
financial year Disposal

As of 
31/12/2013

As of 
31/12/2012

As of 
31/12/2013

Intangible assets   

IT software 664 125 10 11 788 531 88 11 608 133 180

Industrial property 
rights and licenses

1,644 21 0 0 1,665 984 276 0 1,260 660 405

Customer relationships 9,115 0 0 0 9,115 4,982 1,815 0 6,797 4,133 2,318

Goodwill 463 0 0 0 463 0 0 0 0 463 463

Total intangible assets 11,886 146 10 11 12,031 6,497 2,179 11 8,665 5,389 3,366

Property, plant 
and equipment  

  

Land and buildings 8,789 0 0 0 8,789 3,201 527 0 3,728 5,588 5,061

Technical equipment 
and machinery

13,002 82 711 0 13,795 6,832 1,004 0 7,836 6,170 5,959

Operating and of-
fice equipment

3,445 890 121 86 4,370 2,098 495 77 2,516 1,347 1,854

Plant under construction  1,015 1,590 -842 0 1,763 0 175 0 175 1,015 1,588

Total property, plant 
and equipment  

11,886 146 10 11 12,031 6,497 2,179 11 8,665 5,389 3,366

26,251 2,562 -10 86 28,717 12,131 2,201 77 14,255 14,120 14,462

Non-current assets 38,137 2,708 0 97 40,748 18.628 4.380 88 22.920 19.509 17.828


